1C. The Tudors: England, 1485-1603

Part one: the consolidation of the Tudor Dynasty: England, 1485-1547

Henry VII, 1485-1509
Henry Tudor’s consolidation of power

· At first, Henry seemed weak because he was a usurper with only a weak claim to the throne. 
· He could claim that God wished him to be king because he had let Henry win at Bosworth.

· There were a number of Yorkist princes e.g. Edward, Earl of Warwick and John de la Pole, Earl of Lincoln who had better claims to the throne. Both were nephews of Edward IV.

· Henry had little active support from the nobility of England.

· Three of the last four kings of England had been violently overthrown during the Wars of the Roses: Henry VI in 1461 and 1471 – then murdered by Edward IV; Edward V murdered by Richard III; Richard III killed at Bosworth

In reality Henry was in a strong position because:

· He married Elizabeth of York and quickly had a son, Prince Arthur, thus gaining support from many Yorkists. They were now satisfied that an heir of the murdered Edward V would rule in the future.

· He had the support of Lancastrians, since Henry VI’s direct line had died out with the death of his son Edward, Prince of Wales in 1471.

· Richard III’s only son had died as a child in 1484.

· Henry had not gained the throne with the aid of a great nobleman. He did not owe anything to anybody and would not face a revolt by a previously loyal supporter.

· Whereas Edward IV had been overthrown by his greatest ally, Richard Neville, Earl of Warwick in 1470. 

· Richard III had faced rebellion in 1483 from Henry Stafford, Duke of Buckingham, who had supported Richard’s coup against Edward V.

· There were no ‘overmighty’ noblemen left who might mount a serious challenge to Henry’s kingship. 

· During the Wars of the Roses, the Dukes of York (ie Edward IV and his father Richard before him), Richard Earl of Warwick, and Richard Duke of Gloucester were all sufficiently powerful to overthrow the king. 

· By 1485, these men were dead and their great lands, which sustained the political instability of the period, had largely been inherited by Henry as the new king. 

· Henry also had no brothers and only one uncle. Edward IV had been overthrown by his brother, George Duke of Clarence. Edward V was overthrown by his uncle. Lack of close relatives was a major bonus for Henry VII.

· The Wars of the Roses, although they had unseated several monarchs, had not seriously undermined the machinery of government, which, for the time was fairly sophisticated.

· Henry’s defeat of Richard III was seen as God’s judgement on a regicide, a man who had overthrown and killed the rightful king, Edward V. Although Henry was also a usurper, he had killed a tyrant.

· Henry VI, whose reign had seen the start of the Wars of the Roses, was a weak man who suffered a serious mental breakdown, rendering him unfit to govern. 
· Henry VII was an able politician who had learnt his trade as a powerless refugee. He therefore worked hard to retain his office.

The nobility was not a serious threat to Henry’s position.

· There were no ‘over-mighty subjects’ left after Bosworth who could unseat the king. 

· Henry had few close relatives of the type who had caused trouble during the Wars of the Roses. He had no brothers, no adult children before his death and only one loyal uncle.

· The nobles who fought against him were ‘attainted’, but allowed to win back lands and titles only gradually, through loyal service e.g. the Earl of Surrey. He did not get back his father’s dukedom of Norfolk until 1513.

· (Bills of Attainder were widely used to deal with opponents in the fifteenth century. The accused was denied a trial and was declared guilty by Act of Parliament. Life, property and titles were all forfeit.)

· The Earl of Lincoln, who was loyal at first but then joined Lambert Simnel, was killed at Stoke in 1487.

· The Earl of Northumberland was killed in a brawl in Thirsk in 1489 leaving a minor to succeed him. Government of the North was entrusted to the Earl of Surrey, who had no lands in that area.

· Sir William Stanley, Henry’s Chamberlain was executed in 1495 for negotiating with Warbeck.

· The Duke of Buckingham was a minor.

How did Henry control the nobility?

· At first Henry conciliated them by calling Parliament quite often (the nobility sat in the House of Lords), calling several  ‘Great Councils’ of the nobility to discuss policy e.g. one to discuss war with France and one to decide on withdrawal from France. 

· He played the part of a military leader, offering armed men to Brittany, defeating Simnel at Stoke and invading France.

· As the reign went on, Henry became increasingly repressive towards the nobility.

· He used Bonds and Recognizances more frequently and more systematically, to keep great men and even minors, like the Duke of Buckingham, enmeshed in a series of financial constraints, fines and suspended fines. 

· 1485-1499, 11 peers gave bonds and recognizances. 1502-1509, 36 peers gave bonds and recognizances. Lord Mountjoy alone gave 23 bonds. 

· When Henry died in 1509, hundreds of Bonds were cancelled and the two men most associated with Bonds and Recognizances, Richard Empson and Edmund Dudley were executed, as the nobility took control of the new king.

· He exploited his rights over royal wards (minors) more systematically. Wardship brought in £350 in 1487, £1,600 in 1494 and £6,000 in 1507. 

· Henry created the post of Surveyor of the king’s wards in 1503. This helped to ensure that great families did not use marriage as a way of building up substantial or geographically concentrated lands.

· In 1501, Henry declared that all major landowners were tenants-in-chief to the king. This increased his power over them.

· He took measures against illegal retaining of armed men by the nobility. An Act of 1504 echoed that of Edward IV in 1468. 

· Henry tried to introduce licences or ‘placards’, which allowed nobles to retain a certain number of men. 

· Only one known prosecution of a peer for illegal retaining – Lord Burgavenny in 1506. Much retaining in later years done by Henry’s servants, who could be relied on.

· Henry exploited the desire common amongst the nobility during the Wars of the Roses to be loyal or at least to avoid rebellion against the Crown. The Pretenders did not receive much support from the barons.

· The nobility did not play a prominent in central government, but their control in the localities and over their own lands was largely unimpaired. 

· None of the nobles had been able to build up a great territorial power-base, which might threaten the king.

Government

· Henry took the business of government very seriously. 

· In all areas of government and administration, Henry employed many so-called ‘new men’ – men of gentry status who owed their power and prestige to royal office.

· Sir Reginald Bray, Chancellor of the Duchy of Lancaster and financial expert. His department educated many of the new men.

· Sir Thomas Lovell was Chancellor of the Exchequer and Treasurer of the royal household.

· Sir Richard Empson and Edmund Dudley, financial experts who were later put in charge of the Council Learned in the Law.

· Sir Edward Poynings, important military commander, not from the aristocracy.

· These new men often collected taxes personally. They acted as subsidy commissioners, collected benevolences and even customs duties.

· They were often appointed to commissions of the peace to oversee justice in the shires.

· They often acted as royal stewards administering crown lands and raising and retaining armed men for the king. 

· Bray and Lovell raised 300 men for the king in 1492, similar to the number of men raised by earls and dukes.

· The King’s Council, often with the king in attendance, became the true centre of government, dividing into inner councils with specialist functions.

· Henry’s administration became increasingly oppressive and unpopular. In his last years, after the deaths of the Queen and his eldest son, Arthur, he became even more insecure and more tyrannical.

Henry VII and Parliament
· Parliament under Henry VIII fulfilled the same functions as p[previously and was made less use of as the reign went on. 

· There was no significant change in the relationship between Crown and Parliament during the reign.

· Henry called 7 parliaments during his reign, with growing infrequency. 

· There were parliamentary sessions in 1485, 1487, 1489, 1491, 1495, 1497 and 1504.

· First parliament was crucial in recognizing that Henry was king because of his victory at Bosworth. NB Parliament did not make Henry king, he was appointed by God. 

· This parliament also granted Henry tunnage and poundage (taxes on imports and exports) for life.

· Remaining 6 parliaments mainly called because the king needed extra money. 

· Standard parliamentary tax was the Fifteenth and Tenth. A fixed amount of money (worth about £30,000 each) raised from communities. 

· Parliament of 1491 granted 3 Fifteenths and Tenths for invasion of France and Parliament of 1497 granted 2 for war against the Scots.

· Parliaments continued to pass laws suggested by the Crown. During Henry's reign 20% of new laws concerned attainders and a further 20% concerned law enforcement.

· In the early years, parliament was a very useful point of contact between the king and the nobility, who sat in the House of Lords. 

· Henry also used Great Councils (meetings of the peers of the realm) to consult with the great men of the kingdom.

Councils and local government
· Henry VII largely reversed Edward IV's model of local government, which relied on building up the power of regional magnates who could the act as virtual viceroys in important regions of the country.

· At the same time the local powers of the nobility; their ability to influence local government in the different areas where they held land was not significantly diminished.

· Henry may have used many of his so-called 'new men' to interfere directly in local government and to strengthen relations between the Crown and the lesser landowners in the gentry class.

· Henry did have two regional Councils for at least a part of his reign. There was a Council in the Welsh Marches under the nominal control of Arthur Prince of Wales, which continued after his death in 1502. 

· There was also a Council of the North. This replaced Richard of Gloucester's administration there and was run by the Earl of Surrey who did not have land or personal interests in the area.

· It is not clear that the overall level of law and order improved during Henry's reign. 

· There were statutes complaining about corruption amongst JPs and petitions from people who had been wronged but it is not clear that new statutes actually improved the situation. 

· The so-called Star Chamber tribunal of 1487 heard only a limited number of cases. 

· In addition Henry allowed his new men to bend the law to their advantage. Likewise statutes against illegal retaining (Keeping of armed men by noblemen) may have had little impact.

Royal finance
· A major weakness of Henry VI was his generosity and indebtedness. Edward IV had managed to balance income and expenditure, but Henry VII probably made a profit. 

How did Henry increase royal revenue?

· By 1483 the Crown’s income was in the region of £90,000 pa. By 1509 it was around £120,000 pa.

· Henry owned five times as much land as Henry VI, as he gained all the Yorkist lands and those of the men attainted after Bosworth. 

· He gained more land as the reign went on, often by deceit and intimidation. 

· He inherited land from his family after the deaths of his uncle Jasper, the Duke of Bedford and his son, Prince Arthur.

· Between 1487 and 1489 crown lands brought in about £3,000 pa. By 1502-5 this sum had risen to £40,000 pa. 

· Land was gained through attainders, confiscations and by using unscrupulous lawyers (such as Empson and Dudley) to show that the Crown owned land claimed by someone else. 

· Inquisitions after the death of a landowner were often used to confiscate property in this way.

· He rewarded loyal support with office and the chance to profit at others’ expense, rather than by alienating crown lands. 

· Henry's so-called 'new men' often profited in this way. The king allowed them to bend the law in their favour.

· 138 attainders were passed during the reign. Only 46 were reversed and most of those only partially. This brought in more land.

· As the reign went on more and more of Crown income was diverted from the Exchequer to the King’s Chamber. This allowed the king and his agents more direct supervision of income.

· Later in the reign, Henry would check the accounts of income and expenditure personally and sign each entry.

· After the invasion of France, Henry received an annual pension from the king of France to ensure that he did not invade again. This amounted to c. £12,000per annum for 15 years.

· Income from the profits of justice increased as the king’s lawyers exploited ancient feudal dues. 

· Loans: as previously Henry could use his authority to ask for loans or benevolences from wealthier subjects. Archbishop Morton helped to collect a benevolence in 1491. Also Henry could get loans from wealthy merchants.

· Sale of offices: this had always happened but Henry may have done it more systematically to raise more money.

· Money from church vacancies: when a bishopric fell vacant, Henry could collect part of the revenues of the see for himself until a new bishop was appointed. 

· Also by 'translating' a bishop from one see to another, Henry could extort money from the promotion and create a string of vacancies to exploit.

· In 1499 or 1500, Henry set up the Council Learned in the Law, which exploited common law to the king’s advantage, using legal technicalities and distortions to fine individuals.

· Bonds and Recognizances were used more systematically, and became especially savage after 1502. In 1493-4 bonds brought in £3,000 per annum, but by 1504-5 this sum had increased to £35,000 per annum.

Some new financial expedients had only limited impact.

· Poll tax on aliens in 1487

· Subsidy of 1489 agreed by Parliament, only 25% collected.

· Aid of 1497 to pay for war against Scotland, not collected, as war did not take place.

· Edward Belknap made Surveyor of the King’s Prerogative in 1508 - in last few months of the reign.

Although Henry kept expenditure under control, he spent his money on the usual royal pursuits. 

· He built palaces, gambled, hunted and feasted. He indulged in extensive diplomacy, sending agents to foreign countries. However he avoided the kind of expenditure that can drain royal funds.

· He only went to war once in 1492. Instead of fighting and trying to gain territory, he was paid off by the French. His foreign policy otherwise was defensive.

· He was not generous in giving his supporters rewards. He ensured that his agents or ‘new men’ earned their rewards from the people they persecuted and prosecuted rather than from the Crown.

Although Henry did manage to earn more than he spent:

· This did not mean that he necessarily became more powerful; i.e. he did not have sufficient money to set up a paid bureaucracy or a royal standing army.  

· He certainly used questionable means to obtain money, allowing his Councillors and other agents to bend the law for their own and the king’s enrichment. 

· This built up opposition and discontent because of what was seen as misrule by the king.

· He probably left the equivalent of two years income when he died in 1509. This was about £300,000.

Domestic policies
· Developments in the domestic economy were limited during Henry VII's reign.

· England's agrarian economy remained unchanged, not seriously disrupted by the Wars of the Roses.

· Apart from arable farming and keeping of livestock, the main growth areas were probably iron, wool and cloth.

· More enclosures under Henry VII - see Wolsey's attempts to deal with problem later - complaints of 'sheep eating men'.

· In many towns gilds, as major regulators of industry, were doing quite well.

· Only about 50 statutes during reign dealt with social/economic issues and only one third of those initiated by Henry's government. 

· Crown passed laws concerning:

· Alien/foreign merchants

· Coinage - counterfeiting made treasonable offence in 1488. 

· Coinage reform, including new denominations

· Wages to be paid to labourers

· Some enclosure legislation - one Act of 1489 dealt with the Isle of Wight

· Vagabonds, new statutes tended to moderate punishment of vagabonds passed in earlier Acts.

Relationships with Scotland and other foreign powers
· Henry’s foreign policy was largely defensive and he was fortunate to rule at a time when England’s main enemy France turned her attention to Italy. 

· He used his foreign policy to defuse the threats to his throne from pretenders.

· Henry also tried to ally England with continental power and to marry his children advantageously

France

· At first Henry’s policy was anti-French.

· 1489 he signed Treaty of Redon, agreeing to support the new Duchess of Brittany (Anne) against French attempts to take to duchy.

· He received parliamentary taxes for defence of Brittany and sent 6,000 men there in 1489.

· 1489 he signed the Treaty of Medina del Campo with recently united Spain, as a counter-weight to France.

· 1492 he invaded France with 15,000 men as Charles VIII’s government was supporting Perkin Warbeck and encouraging Scots to attack.

· Henry signed Peace of Etaples in 1492. No fighting. He is given a pension for 15 years.

· After 1492 relations with France improve.

· Henry was unable to prevent France taking control of Brittany after Anne the Duchess married the French king. Henry then agreed to French control of Brittany.

· France invaded Italy in 1494, which remained the focus of her foreign policy thereafter.

· But English alliance with Spain meant that France continued to distrust England.

Spain

· Spain used by Henry as counter-weight to France. However alliance took time to arrange and looked less valuable as Spain became divided and close to civil war when Queen Isabella of Castile died in 1504.

· 1489, Treaty of Medina del Campo with Spain. Prospect of marriage alliance between Prince Arthur and Catherine of Aragon. Spain agreed not to help pretenders to the English throne.

· England became associate member of Holy League against France - drawn in by Spain.

· 1496, fresh treaty for Anglo/Spanish marriage

· 1501, Catherine of Aragon married Arthur.

· 1502, death of Arthur. New marriage proposed between Catherine and Prince Henry.

· 1504, death of Isabella of Castile.

· 1506, agreement with new rulers of Castile, Joanna of Castile and Philip of Burgundy, for hand-over of Edmund de la Pole, Yorkist claimant to the throne.

· 1509, League of Cambrai against France. England left out. Seen as isolated and not a major power in European politics.

The Low Countries (Burgundy)

· This was a group of 17 provinces (modern day Belgium and Holland) ruled over by the Emperor Maximilian and then by his son Philip the Fair.

· They were important as trading centres for English wool but were often seen as a threat because the Dowager Duchess of Burgundy (Margaret) was the sister of Edward IV and Richard III and supported the pretenders Lambert Simnel and Perkin Warbeck in their attempts to overthrow Henry VII. 

· Simnel claimed that he was the Yorkist Earl or Warwick, while Warbeck claimed to be the younger of the Princes in the Tower, Richard, Duke of York.

· Relations with the Emperor Maximilian at first were good as both he and Henry were opposed to France's annexation of Brittany.

· In 1493 Henry stopped all trade (trade embargo) with the Low Countries because of Maximilian's support for Perkin Warbeck.

· In 1496 trade was apparently restored by the treaty known as the Magnus Intercursus. Both sides agree not to support claimants to the other's throne. 

· However a row over import taxes meant that the treaty was not fully ratified until 1498.

· After this Henry was keen to make an alliance with Philip. His marriage to Joanna of Castile meant that there was a prospect of a triple alliance of England, Spain and the Low Countries against France. 

· This was agreed at the Treaty of Windsor in 1506 when Philip and Joanna were shipwrecked on the Dorset coast. 

· The Treaty included a new trade agreement, the Intercursus Malus. However Philip died the same year ending the alliance and the trade treaty.

Scotland

· Scotland was seen as a potential threat because of its traditional hostility to England and alliance with France. In reality the threat was not very serious. James IV had internal problems.

· 1496’ Scots force supported Perkin Warbeck’s abortive invasion. Henry was in the north dealing with the Scottish threat when the Cornish Rising took place

· 1497, Truce between England and Scotland.

· 1498, Truce of Ayton, ratified by James IV.

· 1502, Full Peace treaty between England and Scotland, with marriage treaty.

· 1503, Marriage of Henry’s daughter Margaret (b.1489) to James IV.

Ireland

· Although technically ruled by the King of England, his authority was largely confined to the area known as ‘the Pale’ around Dublin.

· Ireland was seen as a danger because of the Yorkist lands there and Irish support for both pretenders. Henry achieved little in Ireland.

How did Henry deal with Ireland?

· Sir Edward Poynings was sent out to Ireland in 1493. He arrested the Earl of Kildare and sent him to England. 

· Poynings reasserted the right of Henry VII to rule Ireland i.e. that the Dublin Parliament and Irish government was subservient to the king in England. 

· In 1494 he passed the Statute of Drogheda, know as Poyning’s Law. This tried to bring Ireland back under English control. 

· It said that:

· the Irish Parliament could not meet without the consent of the king of England,

· no laws could be passed without the approval of the king of England,

· all laws passed by the English Parliament were to be obeyed in Ireland.

· But it was one thing to pass a law like this and quite another to enforce it. The king governed through a ‘Lord Deputy’ who was based in Ireland. 

· In the Pale, around Dublin, the people were English and obeyed the king and followed English law, but elsewhere the situation could be very different. 

· In the east and south of Ireland there were English lordships, owned and ruled by the descendants of the barons who had landed in Ireland in the twelfth century. 

· The rest of Ireland was ruled by Irish lords, who spoke Gaelic and used Irish law. 

Limitations on Henry’s achievements in Ireland

· Ireland was still not effectively governed by England.

· Orders issued by the Lord Deputy in Dublin would be obeyed in the Pale; they might be obeyed in the English lordships, but would not be obeyed in the Irish lordships.

· Irish lords continued to support Perkin Warbeck until his execution in 1497.

The Papacy

· Relations between Henry VII and the Papacy remained cordial though distant throughout the reign

· England was a Roman Catholic country and therefore owed spiritual allegiance to the Pope in Rome. 

· In reality Henry VII, like his predecessors made all the important decisions in Church affairs.

· Pope Innocent VIII recognized Henry's dubious claim to the throne and gave him a special dispensation to marry his cousin, Elizabeth of York.

· Innocent also proclaimed that rebels against Henry were excommunicated by definition.

· Pope Julius II granted a special dispensation to allow Catherine of Aragon to marry her brother-in-law (Prince Henry) after the death of her husband Arthur in 1502.

· Henry VII was personally religious. He founded three religious houses and built the new chapel at the eastern end of Westminster Abbey, originally to house the former Lancastrian king Henry VI.

Society

Henry and the Church

· The Church gave Henry important support during the reign.

· The Pope backed Henry’s title and marriage. Relations with papacy remained good throughout reign.

· Pope Innocent VIII presented Henry with a golden rose.

· Pope Julius II gave special permission (papal dispensation) for Prince Henry ti marry his sister-in-law, Catherine of Aragon

· The king controlled all appointments to senior church posts and other elements of church patronage.

· The bishops were used as administrators. Most were lawyers rather than theologians.
· Fox of Winchester was Keeper of the Privy Seal and did extensive work in administration and diplomacy.

· Morton was Archbishop of Canterbury, Chancellor of England and appointed a Cardinal by the Pope.

· The Bishop of Lincoln petitioned the king in vain to leave his royal duties in the Welsh Marches and return to his see.

Benefit of Clergy

· Men who claimed that they were clergy were tried in Church courts and might hope for more lenient sentence.

· Henry introduced a new statute tightening up the definition of a clergyman to restrict this privilege

Right of Sanctuary

· Men could claim right of sanctuary if they entered a church and could (temporarily) avoid arrest. 

· Henry ruled that in cases of treason, this right could no longer be exercised. Stafford brothers were arrested in church in 1486.

The regions

· He was content to allow the nobles their regional influence if they were loyal to him and stayed within the law. 
· The nobility was largely excluded from government and the court
· Henry VII used JPs on a large, nationwide scale. They were appointed for every shire and served for a year at a time. 

· Their chief task was to see that the laws of the country were obeyed in their area. Their powers and numbers steadily increased during the time of the Tudors.

Social discontent and rebellions
How serious was the threat to Henry posed by Lambert Simnel?

· He was crowned in Dublin as Edward VI.

· Although he was an impostor, the real Earl of Warwick was alive in the Tower and John de la Pole, Earl of Lincoln – Richard III’s official heir - fled from Henry to join Simnel. 

· Thus the Yorkists did have credible candidates for the throne available, if Henry VII was killed or fled.

· He invaded England and marched for several hundred miles without being intercepted by local noblemen.

· He had support from the Irish and from 2,000 foreign mercenaries led by their captain, Martin Swartz.

· Simnel was backed by Margaret of York, Dowager Duchess of Burgundy, Edward IV’s sister and a keen Yorkist. 

· The Duke of Burgundy had funded Edward IV’s successful invasion of England in 1471, just as the French had supported Henry’s invasion of 1485. Lack of active support inside England was not a serious weakness for these men.

· Simnel’s forces brought Henry to battle at Stoke (near Newark). In many ways it was another Bosworth, except that Henry did not get directly involved in the fighting and the king’s army prevailed.

Warbeck was a serious threat because:

· He gained support from Henry’s enemies: France, Margaret of Burgundy, the Emperor Maximilian and James IV of Scotland.

· He had some support inside England. Sir Robert Clifford confessed his part in 1494. Lord Fitzwalter (Henry’s Steward) and Sir William Stanley (Henry’s Chamberlain) were executed for offering support to Warbeck in 1495. 

· These men were trusted servants of the king, their disloyalty and proximity to the king led to a heightened fear of assassination.

· He claimed to be Richard, Duke of York, the younger of Edward IV’s sons. 

· Henry could not produce the real Duke or his remains, so some believed that he was who he claimed to be. 

· He is a problem for so long. He first appeared in 1491 in Ireland and is not caught until 1497. He tried to escape twice before being executed in 1499. 

· Although his attempt failed he launched three ‘invasions’ of England. In 1495 some of his men land in Kent. In 1496 he invaded from Scotland with James IV and in 1497 he landed in Cornwall.

· His escapades and the taxes Henry demanded in order to combat the threat, helped to cause the Cornish Rising of 1497. 

The Cornish Rising 1497

· This was a serious threat to Henry’s regime, demonstrating his chronic insecurity.

· Henry’s army was away in the north dealing with the Scottish threat.

· Lord Audley and some 25 gentlemen from the Southwest joined the rebellion against heavy taxes and the oppressive nature of Henry’s regime.

· They marched unhindered from Cornwall to London.

· They threatened to release the Earl of Warwick (in the Tower of London) and restore a Yorkist king.

· The rising happened while Perkin Warbeck was still a threat.

· Some 2,000 rebels are killed at Blackheath just outside London.

Other threats to Henry

Northern Rebellion of 1489

· This broke out in Yorkshire over Henry's demands for taxes to deal with Warbeck threat.

· Thomas Percy, Earl of Northumberland, one of the royal tax collectors, was murdered at Topcliffe in Yorkshire.

· This showed that King's control of the North was insecure. Percy left a son who was still a child and could not help to govern the region.

· More general 'rising' followed showing widespread unrest in the north.

· Henry regained control but some of the leaders fled to Margaret of Burgundy.

· Even after Warbeck’s execution, in 1499, Henry’s position was not fully secure. 

· Since he was a usurper himself, he could never afford to rest easy. This helps to explain the increasing severity of his rule.

· Edmund de la Pole, Earl of Suffolk and a Yorkist, was in exile in the Low Countries. He was not handed over to Henry until 1506.

· Edward Stafford, Duke of Buckingham was a minor for most of Henry’s reign but was executed in 1521 for allegedly plotting to seize the throne.

· The Tudor succession was in doubt when Henry’s son Prince Arthur died suddenly in 1502. 

· Henry’s next son (Prince Henry) was only 10 at the time and would only be 17 when his father died. 

· If  Henry had died before 1509, the succession from Henry VII to Henry VIII might not have been so smooth.

Economic development
Trade

· Income from taxes on trade generally increased. Two advantageous treaties were signed with the Low Countries i.e. the Magnus Intercursus (1496) and the Malus Intercursus (1506).

· Magnus Intercursus reduced tolls on British goods and provided redress for grievances. Burgundy also agreed not to support Perkin Warbeck. However treaty not finally ratified until 1498.

· Malus Intercursus (1506) allowed English cloth exports to enter Burgundy without duties. However this was not ratified because of the sudden death of Philip of Burgundy.

· Henry VII's reign probably saw increasing trade between England and other countries.

· Cloth exports were up about 60% during reign, meaning more revenue for Crown. Wool exports, by contrast decline.

· Value of imports to England may have risen by 60%

· Navigation Acts of 1485 and 1489, tell English merchants that they should import goods in English not foreign ships. Encourage growth of English merchant shipping. 

· Outcry from Hanseatic League, who often carried English imports before this, may indicate that the Acts were successful

Henry established relations with foreign powers keen to promote trade.

· 1486, commercial treaty with Brittany

· 1489, Treaty of Medina del Campo with Spain, also had clauses to improve trade, increase safety of merchants, in each others country. 

· But trade hampered by Spanish Navigation Acts, passed in retaliation to the English Acts.

· 1492, Treaty of Etaples with France also had clauses to improve trade, hampered when Henry supported Brittany against France.

· 1495 further treaty with France, removing all restrictions on trade between the two countries.

· Relations with Hanseatic League were stormy. 1493 London mob attack the Steelyard, home of Hanseatic merchants. 

· Henry paid very little compensation. Henry made trade agreement with Riga (rival of the Hanse in the Baltic but failed to come into force.

· Treaties with Denmark extend English trade into Denmark and Norway.

· Magnus Intercursus 1496 improved terms of trade between England and Low Countries (especially Antwerp).

· Henry helped to sponsor the voyages of the Cabots in search of a northern route to the East.

However Henry's role in increasing trade should not be exaggerated.

· Bad political relations between Henry and Philip of Burgundy led to 3 year trade embargo 1493-96.

· Malus Intercursus of 1506 would have improved rights and privileges of English merchants in Low Countries but this was never ratified because of Philip's death the same year.

Exploration

· Henry VII showed considerable interest in foreign exploration and considered financing the voyages of Columbus. The Council advised him against that.

· On 5 March 1496, King Henry VII granted letters patent to John Cabot and his sons. 
· This permitted them to investigate, claim and possess any new lands so long as they did not intrude on Spanish or Portuguese territories.

· He believed he would make a fortune by funding a route to the Far East by sailing west.

· Henry funded Cabot’s first journey to the sum of £50Henry’s caution served him well as Cabot’s first voyage was not a success.

· On the second Cabot, landed (probably in Newfoundland) and took possession in Henry’s name
Religion

The late fifteenth century saw the development of humanism. Humanists believed that the study of the Bible was the most important aspect of Christianity. They rejected the influence of the Church hierarchy.
John Colet

· Colet was a leading exponent of Humanism. He attacked the abuses and idolatry in the church. 
· Colet criticised the living style of the priests. He maintained that the priests should set an example for others.

· He believed that priests were more interested in the honour and dignity that could be acquired by being a part of the priesthood. He argued that priests should be humble servants of the Church.

· Colet anticipated the Reformation, although he himself would never have considered a formal breach with the Catholic Church. 
· He started a friendship with Erasmus, the Dutch humanists in 1498. His in 1512 he was accused of heresy by the bishop of London. The case was later dismissed.
Arts and learning

· Henry VII supported the ‘New Learning’ of the Renaissance. Foreign scholars were invited to England. Henry was a patron of English writers and poets. 

· English scholars, such as Thomas Linacre, travelled to Italy to study and then returned to England. Linacre was appointed tutor to Prince Arthur on his return.

· Linacre later became the first President of the Royal College of Physicians in 1518.

· All of Henry’s children were well educated and learned foreign languages.

· Henry’s mother, Lady Margaret Beaufort, supported two colleges at Cambridge: Jesus (1497) and St John’s (1516).

· Despite Henry’s interest and encouragement, the English universities remained traditional and concentrated on classical studies.

Henry VIII, 1509-1547
Henry VIII: character and aims
· Unlike his father, Henry VIII did not wish to spend his time on the day-to-day business of government.

· Henry was young and had succeeded peacefully to the throne. His position was secure. There would be no powerful rival claimants to the throne during the reign. 

· His father, Henry VII, by contrast, had been a usurper with no real claim to the throne, beset by challengers and rebellion. Therefore he worked hard at the business of government to defend his security.

· Henry VIII wished to concern himself with the pursuit of military adventures, especially expeditions to conquer France. He saw Francis I of France (king 1515-47) as a rival.

· He wished to enhance his own and England’s position in Europe. He saw himself as the equal of Francis I and Charles V, the Holy Roman Emperor.

· Henry enjoyed hunting, sports, feasting, music, intellectual pursuits and the affairs of the court.

· A highly educated, handsome young man of 17 replaced an old, ill, harsh and suspicious king. 
· In 1509 Henry married Catherine of Aragon, the widow of his older brother Prince Arthur. A few weeks later (June 1509) they were crowned in Westminster Abbey.

· Henry VIII represented hopes of reform and change in government and society. Amongst Renaissance scholars, many of whom were humanists, there was the idea that government and society could be improved and reformed.

Why did the accession of Henry VIII appear to promise change?

· Henry VIII represented hopes of reform and change in government and society. 

Addressing Henry VII’s legacy
· Henry VII had ruled harshly in his final years allowing his servants to extract money and land by dubious means from landowners. 

· His death in 1509 unleashed a backlash from the great men of the realm, seeking to re-establish good government. 

· Bonds and Recognizances, by which the king enmeshed landowners in financial constraints, (fines and suspended fines) were cancelled. 

· Empson and Dudley, the most hated of the Henry VII’s new men, lawyers who ran the Council Learned in the Law, were executed in 1510 by the new king Henry.

· The nobility, excluded from influence under Henry VII, returned to Court.

· The nobility encouraged Henry VIII to go to war with France and renew the Hundred Years War. 

· After years of peace under Henry VII, they would take their place once more as the king’s military commanders.

· A highly educated, handsome young man of 17 replaced an old, ill, harsh and suspicious king. 

· In 1509 Henry married Catherine of Aragon, the widow of his older brother Prince Arthur. A few weeks later (June 1509) they were crowned in Westminster Abbey.

· Henry VIII represented hopes of reform and change in government and society. 

· Amongst Renaissance scholars, many of whom were called humanists, there was the idea that government and society could be improved and reformed.

Government

Crown and Parliament
· The number of MPs in Parliament grew steadily in the sixteenth century. There were 296 in 1500 and 400 in 1558. By 1600, there were 462.

· In 1515, Parliament gained control over its members. They had to seek the approval of the Speaker if they wanted to leave before the end of the session.

· In 1523, Thomas More, the Speaker, established the right of free speech for the first time. it was requested at the beginning of every Parliament subsequently.

· In 1542, the Commons gained the right to enforce freedom from arrest. Hitherto, that had been enforced by the Crown

· Henry summoned four parliaments before 1529. The general atmosphere was not confrontational. 

· Parliament and King saw their relationship as cooperation. There were disagreements, but the main aim was to secure legislation for the king’s domestic policies.

· Confrontation occurred in 1515 when MPs tried to limit the privileges of the Church. Some MPs were brought before Star Chamber and at least one died in the Tower as a result.

· In 1523 there were arguments over demands for subsidies to pay for the costs of war.

· Parliament met fewer times during the early reign of Henry VIII than during that of Henry VII and far less than in the fifteenth century.

· From 1529, (the Reformation Parliament) Parliament became more important because Henry needed it to complete the break from Rome.

· This does not mean that Parliament gained any extra powers; it still met when the monarch summoned it and only then. The Reformation Parliament was the exception and not the rule.
· Tudor monarchs by and large lived on their traditional incomes and summoned Parliament when there was a particular need, e.g. 1529, 1558 and when extra resources were needed for war.

Ministers

The rise of Wolsey

· Wolsey was the son of an Ipswich butcher. His lowly origins made him unpopular with the nobility but it meant that he would never represent a threat to the king. 

· Henry VIII made him and he could unmake him! 

· He became bursar of Magdalen College, Oxford and then was appointed to Henry VII’s Council as almoner – the man who distributed food and money to the poor on the king’s behalf.

· In 1513, he was the main organizer of Henry’s great expedition to France.

· In 1514, he was rewarded with the Bishoprics of Lincoln and Tournai (one of two French towns captured by Henry VIII the year before) and then was elevated to the vacant Archbishopric of York.

· In 1515, he was made Chancellor of England – a legal office usually held by a cleric – and a cardinal of the Roman Catholic Church.

· In 1524, the Pope agreed to make Wolsey, legate a latere for life, a very high honour, so that Wolsey outranked the Archbishop of Canterbury, William Warham.

· In 1529 he was dismissed as Chancellor and sent to York. He died in 1530, on his way to London to stand trial.

Why did Henry VIII give Wolsey so much power?

· Unlike his father, Henry VIII did not wish to spend his time on the day-to-day business of government.

· He was young and had succeeded peacefully to the throne. His position was secure; there would be no powerful rival claimants to the throne during the reign. 

· His father, by contrast, had been a usurper with no real claim to the throne, beset by challengers and rebellion. Therefore he worked hard at the business of government to defend his security.

· He wished to concern himself with the pursuit of military adventures, especially expeditions to conquer France. He saw Francis I of France (king 1515-47) as a rival.

· He wished enhance his own and England’s position in Europe. He saw himself as the equal of Francis I and Charles V.

· He enjoyed hunting, sports, feasting, music, intellectual pursuits and the affairs of the court.

Further reasons for Wolsey's success

· Wolsey had the right patrons. Archbishop Warham and Bishop Fox of Winchester were eager to retire from royal service and saw Wolsey as a ‘safe pair of hands’.

· Wolsey was a very able man with a real appetite for administration. He had great ability and ruled wisely and fairly.

· While Henry liked to have the nobility around him at Court he, like his father, did not wish them to exercise real power. 

· They were given honorary positions. Wolsey’s extensive power and influence would remind them that the king was the ultimate authority in the land.

· Wolsey got on well with the king at a personal level. He was a scholar and good speaker; very much like the tutors and intellectuals which the young Henry found congenial company.

· Wolsey’s accumulation of offices was unique but he was not very different from Cardinal Morton during the reign of Henry VII, who was Chancellor and Archbishop of Canterbury.

· Although Wolsey had extensive power, the king retained overall control of policy, especially foreign policy and the machinery of government at the centre and in the localities saw little reform.

· Wolsey could act as a convenient scapegoat when things went wrong e.g. the Amicable Grant of 1525 and the Divorce Crisis.

· Wolsey got results. Throughout his tenure of office, he relieved the king of tedious business and carried out the king’s wishes in foreign policy.

· It has been suggested that in later years, Henry liked Wolsey because they were both large men!

After 1513 however, the nobility were less influential in government.

· Henry elevated Thomas Wolsey as chief minister in both Church and State. 

· Wolsey was seen as alter rex - exercising quasi-regal powers under the king.

· Wolsey worked very hard at the business of government. He operated rather like Henry VII but the scope of his authority was more limited. 

· The nobility was often excluded from real power, holding honorary posts at Court but exercising limited power in government.

· Like his father Henry VIII had other loyal servants, such as royal secretaries who carried out the bureaucratic tasks of government.

· Clerics, such as Wolsey, Warham and Tunstall continued to play an important part in government.

· Edward Stafford, Duke of Buckingham, the greatest landowner amongst the nobility was tried and executed for treason in 1520. 

· The charges against him were flimsy and he was convicted by a new court of peers led by Norfolk. This episode reminded the nobility of Henry’s power.

Extent of noble opposition to Wolsey should not be exaggerated

· Nobility did play an important part in foreign affairs and war.

· All went to celebrate peace with France at Field of the Cloth of Gold in 1520.

· Henry VIII invaded France in 1513 (captured Tournai and Therouanne), 1523 and 1544 (captured Boulogne) with large expeditions.

· Also expeditions against the Scots in 1513 (Battle of Flodden) and 1542 (Battle of Solway Moss)

· Nobility did not want to do Wolsey's job. They realised how important he was to Henry VIII and could not afford to upset the king by informing against Wolsey.

· Norfolk and Suffolk did not like Wolsey but are not constantly plotting against him. Enjoyed his discomfiture over Amicable Grant but realised they could not overthrow him.

· Overthrow of Wolsey over divorce issue was caused by the king not the nobility. 

· Even after his dismissal, Wolsey hoped to be re-instated because nobility have even fewer ideas about how to get divorce.

· Wolsey was a great politician and was better than nobility at flattering Henry.

· Henry retained a residual fear of the nobility inherited from his father and nurtured by his lack of son to succeed him.

· Apart from Buckingham, Henry VIII's nobility was a 'court' nobility - did not have the great landed estates and armed men of the nobility during the Wars of the Roses.

· Wolsey had enormous patronage at his disposal and the ear of the king. It would be foolish to oppose him openly.

· Execution of Buckingham in 1521 was at command of king and was NOT part of Wolsey's 'class conflict' with the nobility as a whole. 

· Buckingham was proud and arrogant and probably thought that he was heir to Henry's throne.

· Wolsey good at countering threat of noble influence at Court.

· Twice he acted to disperse Henry's 'mignons' at Court, when it seemed as though they were advising against Wolsey.

Domestic policies
· Henry VII’s reign had demonstrated that the Crown could live within its normal income, provided it did not go to war. 

· However, Henry had built up surpluses by introducing arbitrary and unpopular methods.

· As Henry VIII wanted to be more involved in European diplomacy and also wanted to go to war with France, Henry VII’s surplus was soon used up.

· Wolsey was therefore called upon to raise extra revenue. If there were difficulties, it was because warfare was increasingly expensive and the English Crown remained under funded.

Finance
· The Subsidy: Wolsey developed the subsidy. Edward IV and Henry VII had raised this new parliamentary tax, rather unsuccessfully. 

· The main parliamentary tax, the Fifteenths and Tenths gave a fixed yield and was seen as unfair. 

· The subsidy was based on income not property. Wolsey used the subsidy in 1513 and 1523 when the king needed money for war against France.

· Parliament of 1523 saw serious arguments about levels of taxation needed to pay for war against France. 

· Certainly Wolsey received less than he hoped for but unfair to see him as bad parliamentary manager. 

· Parliament had already been asked for higher than usual; rates of taxation to pay for Henry's active foreign policy and war.

· Forced Loans A traditional extraordinary tax. Wolsey raised one in 1522-3 and launched a major inquiry into England’s financial and military capacity.

· The Amicable Grant 1525 was a second forced loan demanded when the forced loan of 1523 was still being collected. 

· In the face of popular disturbances, especially in East Anglia, the king withdrew the tax and blamed Wolsey for imposing it.

The law

· Court of Chancery: as Chancellor Wolsey presided over the Court of Chancery. It administered the law of equity, not common law. Wolsey had little or no legal training. 

· Cases were not usually high profile and involved quite a lot of work for Wolsey during the legal terms.

· Court of Star Chamber, unlike Chancery, was a criminal court. Wolsey presided with other members of the King’s Council. 

· Individual litigants not the king or Wolsey brought most cases, so it was not a device to humble the mighty. 

· Wolsey enforced the law impartially, against high and low. Heard a lot of poor men’s cases.

Enclosures

· Wolsey launched inquiries into illegal enclosure of land in 1517, 1518 and 1526. 

· Many landowners were enclosing land without permission in order to bring in sheep farming. The result was that tenants were often driven off the land or had less land to live off. 

· The inquiries achieved little but indicate that Wolsey at least took an interest in the problems of the poor. 

· Ultimately, it was hard for Wolsey to cut across the rights of property owners. Once again Wolsey acted within the law.

Relationships with Scotland and other foreign powers
· Henry VIII was an ambitious aggressive monarch. Unlike his father Henry VII, whose interests were mainly defensive, Henry VIII was an interventionist. 

· He wanted to raise England’s profile in European power politics and was prepared to go to war to capture French territory. 

· He saw himself as the equal of Francis I of France and Charles V of Germany and wanted to show off England's power by claiming that England held the balance of power between them.

· His chief minister, Wolsey, the humanist, wanted the glory of international diplomacy but wished to avoid the waste of war. His quest for peace, helped to dampen Henry’s martial ambitions. 

· During Wolsey’s period of high office, England only went to war once – in 1523. Wolsey probably spent more time on foreign affairs than on domestic issues.

Foreign Policy
1513, War with France: Why?

· Henry VIII wanted glory. He wished to renew the Hundred Years War with France. 

· In 1422 Henry VI of England had been proclaimed king of France; by 1453 the English had been expelled from France, except for the port of Calais. Henry wished to reassert his claim to the throne of France.

· Within weeks of his accession, Henry married Catherine of Aragon in order to renew England’s alliance with Spain. Spain might be the ally England needed. 

What happened?

· Wolsey organized the expedition. Henry led 30,000 men and captured the towns of Therouanne and Tournai. The French were forced to flee after a skirmish known as the Battle of the Spurs.

Impact of war

· Henry’s success made him ambitious to continue with direct involvement in European politics. This set the tone for the future.

· The nobility received rewards and titles after the victories.

· Wolsey emerged as the man to whom Henry would entrust the running of the kingdom.

Peace and glory 1514-22

· After the success against France, Henry made peace in 1514 and married his younger sister Mary to the ageing Louis XII of France.

· Despite the accession of Francis I to the French throne in 1515, which brought about new rivalry between the two kings, Wolsey managed to continue his peace policy. 

· Henry had wanted to launch a new invasion of France in 1516 but Wolsey persuaded him it would be better for England to join the coalition of powers opposing French intervention in Italy. In the end this idea petered out.

· In 1518 Wolsey devised a general peace the Treaty of London, which brought together the great powers of Europe in a ‘universal and perpetual’ peace. 

· France paid 600,000 crowns for the return of Tournai and a marriage was proposed between the French Dauphin (the king’s eldest son) and Henry’s baby daughter, Mary.

· In 1520 Wolsey followed this up with the Field of the Cloth of Gold, where Henry and Francis met just outside Calais for feasting and jousting. 

· It seemed to portend the end of the long hostility between the two countries and was a further triumph for Wolsey.

War with France 1523

· By the early 1520s, France was involved in a long series of wars in Italy against Catherine of Aragon’s powerful nephew, the Emperor Charles V.

· By 1523, Henry hoped to benefit from alliance with Charles and with the disloyal Constable of France to invade France once more. 

· Wolsey opposed it, but could not dissuade the king.

· English forces landed in France, captured the port of Boulogne and marched towards Paris before being forced back by bad weather and lack of supplies.

Peace maintained 1524-9

· Despite Henry’s hopes of campaigning again in 1524, the plans petered out, partly at Wolsey’s instigation. 

· In 1525, Henry VIII again hoped to invade France after Francis I was captured by Charles V during the Battle of Pavia in Northern Italy. 

· However Charles V was not interested in Henry's ambitions, so peace was made with France in 1525 and maintained until 1543.

· Henry's determination to divorce Catherine of Aragon by 1527 helped to undermine relations with Charles and to strengthen relations with France.

Relations with Spain

Before 1516

· Henry VIII married Catherine of Aragon in 1509. Good relations with Spain were the cornerstone of Henry’s foreign policy, since he was normally anti-French. 

· As France was more populous and wealthier than England, it was assumed that England would need an ally if she were to prevail in war.

· Relations with Spain cooled in 1512 when an English expedition to Aquitaine in France did not receive the Spanish help, which Ferdinand had promised.

· In 1513, relations again broke down as Ferdinand agreed a one-year truce with France after he had promised a joint attack on France with Henry and the Emperor Maximilian.
After 1516, the situation was transformed.

· In 1516, Charles V succeeded his grandfather Ferdinand of Aragon as King of Spain. 

· Charles was also ruler of the Low Countries, centre of a great deal of English trade and bordering on France, therefore a convenient base for attack. 

· In 1519, Charles succeeded his other grandfather, Maximilian as Emperor of Germany. 

· For Henry VIII, Charles seemed an ideal ally against France as he was apparently so powerful and since the French were seriously concerned about Hapsburg encirclement.

· With relations worsening between Charles and Francis, Wolsey attempted to act as peacemaker. In 1521, he met Francis I in Calais and Charles V in Bruges.

· After the failure of these negotiations, Henry agreed to an alliance with Charles against France. 

· Charles visited England in 1520 and 1522 and England then declared war on France (June 1522).
· 1522-3 War against France as Charles V’s ally.

Relations with Charles worsen 1524-9

· The failure of the French campaign of 1523, and the failure to follow it up by England meant that relations were already cooling.

· In 1525, Charles rejected Henry’s new plan to conquer France, which were inspired by Charles’ decisive victory over Francis at the Battle of Pavia in Italy. 

· Charles was angry because he knew that the English had been negotiating peace with France beforehand!

· 1526, Wolsey helped to organize the League of Cognac against the Emperor.

· 1527 Wolsey negotiated peace with France – Treaty of Greenwich.

· Charles further upset after 1527 as Henry begins his long campaign to annul his marriage with Catherine of Aragon, Charles’ aunt!

Relations with the Papacy

· Relations with Charles were also worsened when his troops sacked Rome and captured the Pope in 1527. This meant that the Pope had to do Charles' bidding.

· This represented a reversal of the good relations between Henry VIII and the papacy in the previous 20 years. 

· The Pope was influential in international affairs and Henry VIII liked to see himself as a loyal son of the Church.

Relations with Scotland

· Henry VII had bequeathed good relations with Scotland and had married his daughter (Henry VIII's sister Margaret) to James IV.

· Encouraged by France, James IV attempted to invade England in 1513, while Henry was away in France. 

· The Scots were defeated decisively by the Earl of Surrey at the Battle of Flodden. James IV and eleven earls were amongst 10,000 killed.

· English success and the death of James IV meant that Henry’s sister Margaret was regent for the young James V. 

· Although the French were still influential in Scotland i.e. James V would marry the French princess Marie de Guise, there was no further threat of invasion from Scotland during Wolsey’s ministry.

Successes

· Henry VIII's diplomacy did give him what he craved. It was frenetic, fast moving and changeable but it made England and her king seem important in European affairs.

· Because Francis and Charles (the greatest powers in Europe) were usually hostile to each other, England could play the role of 'honest broker' between them. Both parties usually wanted English assistance against the other.
· Henry twice invaded France and though there were no long-term gains, France was seen to be vulnerable and neither invasion was defeated by French arms.

· Wolsey's policy of international glory through peaceful means (Treaty of London and Field of the Cloth of Gold) was quite successful in elevating England's international standing.

Limitations

· Naturally this active foreign policy was extremely expensive. The cost of warfare was rising very quickly and the endless diplomacy, major treaties and diplomatic missions cost a great deal as well. 

· Throughout the 1520s Henry VIII had difficulties in funding these initiatives. 

· The Amicable Grant of 1525 is perhaps the most famous example of problems associated with finances but there were also wrangles with the parliament of 1523.

· Militarily, England was seen as a second rate power. She still had no standing army and the government was constantly concerned about the limitations and lack of military training undertaken by Englishmen.

· England could not rely on a strong alliance with either of the main powers. Ferdinand of Aragon, the Emperor Maximilian and Charles V all let England down by making separate peace treaty with France.

Religion

Renaissance ideas
· The English Church was criticised by humanists at the time of Wolsey. 

Reform of the Church

· Pluralism, where one cleric held more than one church office; Wolsey himself was a pluralist

· Absenteeism, where clerics were absent from their church office; this was often caused by pluralism or royal service.

· Simony, the sin where church offices were bought or sold.

· Nepotism, where church office was not given to well qualified candidates but to relatives of powerful men.

· Uneducated clergy: since church livings at the lower end of the scale were often poorly endowed, well-educated men could not be found to fill them.
· Wealthy clergy: there were complaints that the higher clergy enjoyed too much worldly wealth and were engaged too often in government and politics, rather than church affairs.
However
· Such criticisms were muted during Wolsey’s rule. Most anticlericalism dates from the 1530s and later, when the Protestant reformers sought to justify their destruction of the Catholic Church.

· The English Church in the 1520s was well respected and highly regarded. 

· Ultimately, the king, not Wolsey, ran the Church. The king made all the appointments and rewarded churchmen as he saw fit. He employed them extensively on government business. The king, after all created Wolsey. 

· The control of the Church by the king (or secular power) is known as Erastianism. The English Church was an Erastian Church.

· The bishops at this time were able and worthy men, who served the king and the Church. Bishop Fisher was particularly respected when he opposed the king’s campaign to annul his marriage.

· Wolsey’s career illustrates the fact that the Church represented the only way for talented commoners to rise to positions of power and influence.

The king's great matter and the reasons for the fall of Wolsey

Why did Henry wish to annul his marriage to Catherine of Aragon?

· He had no son. Henry feared that his daughter Mary would not be acceptable as sovereign, since there had never been a female ruler of England.

· He believed that his lack of a son was a punishment from God because he had married his brother’s wife. 

· A text in the Old Testament, in the Book of Leviticus, claimed that such a marriage was unlawful in the sight of God. 

· For Henry, it became a matter of conscience. He had sinned against God and must now atone.

· Henry believed that Popes did not have the power to allow a marriage such as his with his own sister-in-law. Therefore, he had never been married to her in the sight of God.

· Henry was very much attracted to Anne Boleyn. He wanted to marry her and produce a male heir.

Why was Henry’s case for annulment so weak?

· Another Biblical text from the Book of Deuteronomy claimed that a man should marry his brother’s wife, if his brother died. 

· It was clear from this that the Leviticus text was talking about a brother who was still alive.

· Therefore Henry’s doubts were groundless since his brother had died 7 years before the marriage of his widow to his brother.

· Leviticus claimed that a man who married his brother’s wife would be childless as a result. Henry had a daughter Mary born in 1516.

· Catherine of Aragon always claimed that her marriage with Arthur had not been consummated; therefore it was no true marriage. Henry’s arguments assumed that the marriage had been consummated.

· Pope Julius II had granted a special ‘dispensation’ to allow Henry to marry Catherine in 1509. No pope would accept Henry’s argument that he had exceeded his powers in doing this.

· Anne Boleyn’s special place in the king’s affections made it seem that Henry wished to rid himself of Catherine in order to marry a younger and more attractive wife. 

· Anne was not popular at Court as she was part of one faction, vying for power and influence with the king. 

· Catherine, by contrast was highly regarded at Court. She had always been a devoted wife, despite the king’s extra marital affairs including one bastard son, Henry Fitzroy and was popular in the country at large.

Henry also faced serious opposition.

· Catherine of Aragon: if she agreed to Henry’s demands it would make her daughter Mary a bastard and mean that she had lived as Henry’s mistress all this time. 

· Catherine also refused a papally inspired compromise whereby she would go into a nunnery, thereby dissolving her marriage and allowing Henry to remarry.

· Charles V: he was Catherine’s nephew and the most powerful man in Europe. In 1527 his troops captured Rome. Thus the Pope (Clement VII) was effectively his prisoner.

The fall of Wolsey

· Henry saw Wolsey, as Papal Legate, as the man who should secure the Pope’s agreement to the annulment. 

· Thus Wolsey was given an impossible task. He used all his skills as a diplomat and statesman to achieve an annulment.

· He hoped to be made ‘acting Pope’ while Clement was a captive in Rome, so that he, Wolsey could decide in the king’s favour. The Pope refused!

· He persuaded another Papal Legate, Cardinal Campeggio, to put the ‘nunnery plan’ to Catherine. She refused.

· He got the Pope to agree to a special court to be held at Blackfriars in London in 1529. However, this was just a ploy by Clement VII playing for time. Before a verdict could be reached, the case was revoked to Rome.

After this Wolsey’s fall was inevitable. Why?

· Henry’s strategy to put pressure on the Pope was to threaten to reform the English Church and distance it from Rome. 

· The dismissal of Wolsey would be part of that strategy. Wolsey would be charged with an offence called ‘praemunire’ that is serving the Pope before the king. 

· Henry called parliament in 1529 and Wolsey’s opponents stirred up anticlerical sentiments and attacks on Wolsey. 

· Sir Thomas More was instructed to deliver a speech in the House of Lords, denouncing Wolsey.

· Anne Boleyn and her faction believed that Wolsey was deliberately failing to get the annulment; they put pressure on the king to get rid of him.

· Although the king was reluctant to get rid of Wolsey, perhaps because he had served him so well, the root cause of his dismissal was not aristocratic opposition or popular anticlericalism but because he could not obtain the annulment. Thus he finally lost the king’s trust.

The Reformation Parliament
Religious changes

· In 1529 Henry called Parliament and allowed it to pass some anticlerical laws. This parliament became known as the Reformation Parliament and met intermittently from 1529-36.

· By 1531, Henry was increasingly influenced by Thomas Cromwell. He was anticlerical, favoured reformers and knew how to persuade the king.

· In 1532, Henry received the Submission of the Clergy. They agreed to recognize him as ‘Supreme head of the Church as far as the law of Christ allows’.

· In future, Convocation (Assembly of leading churchmen) could not meet or pass laws (canons) without the King’s permission.

· In 1532, Archbishop Warham died. In his place Henry appointed Thomas Cranmer, chaplain to the Boleyn family and a known reformer and Protestant sympathizer. He would be more submissive than Warham.

The key development that led to the King’s Supremacy was Anne Boleyn’s pregnancy.

· By January 1533, Henry knew she was pregnant.

· Cranmer then married Henry to Anne, to ensure that the child would be seen as legitimate when it was born.

· A few weeks later, Cranmer announced that Catherine and Henry had never been properly married and therefore his marriage to Anne was legal.

Thomas Cromwell

· Thomas Cromwell served in the household of Thomas Wolsey. He became a member of the King’s Council in 1531and Chancellor of the Exchequer in 1533

· In April 1534, Henry confirmed Cromwell as his Principal Secretary and chief minister, a position he had held in all but name for some time. 

· He was now Henry’s most important adviser in all matters of policy. The King’s Council lost influence as Cromwell rose in the King’s favour.

· Cromwell wanted to ensure that royal authority was maintained effectively in all areas of the country.

· He wanted to strengthen central and local administration and keep both under his personal control.

· 1n 1536, all existing liberties and franchises were abolished and the Crown alone was given the right to appoint JPs. In 1540, most of the privileges of sanctuary were abolished.

· In 1536, Wales was incorporated into the English administrative system. Common Law replaced local custom and Wales was ‘shired’.

· From 1535 to 1537, he ensured that all Episcopal power depended upon the King’s will.

· In 1536, he set up the Court of Augmentations to look after the former monastic estates. 

· The lands were sold on almost feudal terms and gave the King power of wardship and financial dues on the death of the owner. A Court of Wards was set up in 1537.

· Finance was organised by a Court of First Fruits and Tenths and a Court of General Surveyors; the latter was not created until 1542.

· The Privy Council was reduced from about 70 to 20; all members were henceforth important administrators and, of course, large landowners. The Council remained at this size through the Tudor period.

· Cromwell transformed the office of Principal Secretary from a minor post to the most important under the King.

· Regional Councils for the North and the Marches of Wales were reorganised in the 1530s. A Council of the West was briefly set up in 1539 after the Exeter revolt.

· Cromwell did not use paid royal officials in the regions; most of the work fell upon unpaid JPs

Henry and Cromwell passed a series of laws through Parliament to declare that the King and not the Pope was head of the Church in England.

· Parliament gained far greater importance as a result of Henry’s need to carry out major changes.

· The Reformation Parliament asserted the supreme authority, or sovereignty, of Parliament in making statute, or more precisely the sovereignty of King-in-Parliament, the royal authority embodied in law passed by the monarch, Lords and Commons. 

· Henry VIII himself told the Parliament:  ‘We be informed by our judges that we at no time stand so highly in our estate royal as in the time of parliament’. 

· He realised that royal power was at its strongest when it was expressed through parliamentary statute.

· This established that there were three components necessary for legislation: King, Lords and Commons. Legislation was the responsibility of all three components.
· This was an exceptional example of the use of Parliament. It did not become the norm.

· After 1534, the role of Parliament largely reverted to approving extra financial resources in times of need. Monarchs, did, however, make use of the new power of the Crown and Parliament when necessary.

· The Reformation Parliament also increased the power of the Crown. It gave the King control of new areas of policy and opened up extra sources of revenue. 

Legislation

· 1533 – The Act in Restraint of Appeals. This declared that all legal cases arising in England could be finally decided and determined in England. 

· Therefore it was illegal to appeal to any outside or foreign power, such as the Pope, as Catherine was doing. 

· The Act justified this by merely declaring that England was an empire not just a kingdom. This implied that appeals to Rome had always been illegal.

· 1534 – The Act of Succession. This declared that since Henry had never been married to Catherine of Aragon, Princess Mary was a bastard and could not inherit the throne. 

· By contrast, since the marriage with Anne Boleyn was legitimate, then the children born to her and the king were the true heirs to the throne. 

· Once again this Act backed up Henry’s claim that no one could appeal to the Pope in Rome.

· 1534 – The Act of Supremacy. This made official what had been hinted at in the Act in Restraint of Appeals, that Henry was the Supreme Head on earth of the Church in England. 

· Furthermore it declared that Kings of England had always been head of the Church, i.e. what was happening was not, officially, anything new or revolutionary.

· Cromwell immediately took steps to enforce the legislation just passed by Parliament. 

· The members of both houses were required to swear an oath accepting the Act of Succession and all the King's subjects were now required to swear to the legitimacy of the marriage.

· On 13 April, the London clergy accepted the oath. On the same day, the commissioners offered it to Sir Thomas More and John Fisher, Bishop of Rochester, both of whom refused it. 

· Cromwell now brought in the most significant revision of the treason laws since 1352. 

· 1534 – The Treason Act. This Act saw a major widening of the definition of treason and would be used to dispose of opposition. 

· The Treason Act declared that treason could now be committed via words as well as actions. Thus it was treason to deny that the King was head of the church. 

· It became treasonous to speak rebellious words against the Royal Family, or to call the King a heretic, tyrant, infidel or usurper.

· On 21 January 1535, the King appointed Cromwell Royal Vicegerent and Vicar-General, and commissioned him to organise visitations of all the country's churches, monasteries and clergy. 

· In this capacity, Cromwell conducted a census in 1535 to enable the government to tax church property more effectively: the Valor Eccesiasticus.

Society: elites and commoners

See section on Elizabeth
Regional issues and the social impact of religious upheaval
The Dissolution of the Monasteries 

Reasons for Dissolution

· Henry claimed that they were dissolved because of their corruption. Commissioners visited monasteries and wrote unfavourable reports, known as the comperta, to Cromwell. Reports were clearly exaggerated but Henry probably believed them.

· Government claimed that corrupt monasteries could be put to better use as colleges, schools or hospitals. Many reformers including many of the Commonwealth Men agreed.

· Real reason was the monastic wealth that Henry coveted, as he was in financial difficulties and feared a joint invasion of England by France and Spain.

· In 1535, Cromwell's agents carried a special survey to find out the accumulated wealth and income of secular as well as regular (monastic) foundations. 

· This report was called the Valor Ecclesiasticus. It certainly showed Henry how wealthy the Church was.

· Henry wanted to be seen exercising his Headship of the Church as a reforming monarch.

· Cromwell was against monasticism; he believed that monasteries were dens of superstition and pro-Papal sentiment. 

· At a time when the government was worried about opposition, it was thought that they might be centres of disaffection.

Why was the dissolution achieved so easily?

Monastic Weaknesses

· Most were isolated and unarmed – little chance of organizing realistic opposition.

· Some were persuaded that they would be changed into colleges and hospitals.

· Most had no idea what was coming – how could monasticism as a whole be under threat? Some were told and believed, that if they paid a fine, they would be spared.

Government strengths

· Government propaganda stressed that a wholesale dissolution was not intended. In fact, the King hoped to save and preserve monasticism by weeding out corrupt elements.

· Landowners in Parliament and elsewhere saw the chance to acquire new lands in a land market, which was usually pretty static.

· Abbots were offered pensions and monks and nuns were given some financial compensation.

· Three abbots, (Colchester, Reading and Glastonbury) who refused to surrender their abbeys, were executed. This served as a warning to others.

The impact of dissolutions: winners and losers

· 500 religious houses, many of which had stood for centuries, were dissolved.

· There was serious opposition in the North of England: the Pilgrimage of Grace in 1536. 

· There was a huge turnover and sale of land. Cromwell set up the Court of Augmentations run by Richard Rich, which handled goods and land confiscated by the king.

· The Crown sold off much of the land quite quickly as it needed ready money. 

· The opportunity to put Crown finances on a more secure footing in the long term was lost.

· Henry and Cromwell showed off the power of the Crown. Monasteries, which were not widely unpopular or corrupt, were destroyed in just four years.

· Although Parliament passed the two Acts, it effectively rubber-stamped what Henry wanted. 

· In 1536, Parliament was persuaded that monasticism as a whole was not under threat, when it was. 

Voluntary suppression

· Many powerful and rich monasteries remained after 1536; any that had an income of more than £200 and therefore did not come under the 1536 Act.

· From 1537, official policy was to encourage religious house to opt for voluntary suppression; this meant closing themselves down.

· Cromwell sent out commissioners to each of the houses. Those that seemed prepared to fight were noted.

· Cromwell had told the commissioners to leave these houses alone, but an implied threat was made.

· Large numbers agreed to voluntary suppression and handed their property and wealth over to the Crown.

Suppression Act 1539

· This legalised the voluntary suppression that had been taking place since 1539. 

· The act also included a rider that there could be no challenges to the validity of the king’s title of ownership once a monastery had voluntarily dissolved.

· If the king then transferred ownership of titles, these too could not be contested in a court.

· There were some abbots and religious house leaders who would not be bullied. They had to face the full force of the law.

· The Abbot of Glastonbury was in charge one of the wealthiest monasteries in England. He was executed and the buildings in the monastery were all but destroyed. 

· The abbot himself was charged with secretly hoarding gold and other parcels of plate, which the abbot had hid secretly from all such commissioners’.

 

Effects of the dissolution

· Monasteries that had been centres of learning and teaching simply disappeared; their libraries were broken up.

· The tradition of churchmen serving as government ministers came to and end.

· Monks and nuns thrown out of their houses. Some abandoned their religious calling; some find employment in schools or chantries.

· The biggest losers were the ordinary people of England. They had nowhere to go when times were hard.

· Many were forced to become vagrants and wander from town to town looking for work.

· The elderly were most badly affected; they had often relied on monasteries for support.

· The first proposals for the Poor Law were put forward by Cromwell in 1536.

· He suggested to Parliament that the able-bodied should be put to work building and repairing roads.

· The needy and infirm should be looked after by charity or the collection of local taxes.

· In the north of England, the dissolutions resulted in the Pilgrimage of Grace.

Rebellion


The Pilgrimage of Grace

Reasons for the rebellion

· While the people of the North were faced with high prices and heavy taxes, the main reason for the rebellion was opposition to the Henrician Reformation in general and Dissolution of the Monasteries in particular. 

· Primary reasons given in the Pontefract and York Articles was the Dissolution, confiscation of property from secular churches and the activities of the evil advisers around the king – Cromwell, Cranmer, Rich. In many areas, rebellion started and led by clergymen.

Scale of the rebellion 

· Some 30,000 rebels gathered from all over the North of England led by Robert Aske, who had links with the Earl of Northumberland. Gentry and landowners involved as well as peasantry. 

· Rumours that Charles V might invade with Reginald Pole. Pole, a Yorkist, would marry Princess Mary and Henry would be deposed in their favour. 

· The King was only able to raise 8,000 troops under the Duke of Norfolk. It was the most serious and popular rebellion of Tudor period.

Reasons for failure

· King and Norfolk appeared to agree with rebel demands. Pardon for rebels, parliament to be held in York and rebel leaders to meet the King in London.

· The rebels trusted the King and believed he was unaware of the problems caused by dissolution and was prepared to ditch Cromwell and reverse Reformation.

· Henry was outraged by what he saw as impudence of rebels, never seriously considered compromise and refused to abandon Cromwell.

· Rebels were essentially loyal. Rebellion was peaceful and well organized. Rebels unwilling to fight against royal troops.

· Rebellion did not spread to South of England. Therefore no immediate danger to King in London.

· None of the great men of the North gave active support.

· Once rebels had gone home, Norfolk returned to the North. Some 178 people, including Aske and Lord Darcy executed for treason.

Economic development

· As rural areas were depopulated, towns grew. London grew from about 50,000 in 1500 to 200,000 in 1600. York, Exeter and Norwich all grew to about 20,000.

· The growth was largely brought about by immigration. The percentage of people living in towns rose by about 50% during the sixteenth century.

· London dominated the country as a magnet for trade. In the middle of the century, 90% of trade went through London.

· Goods from Berwick and Cornwall were regularly shipped to London markets.

· England had no internal trade barriers, unlike most continental countries, and therefore a national market for goods emerged.

· Trade and the development of towns and cities produced a growing middle class. This was recognised in the increased numbers of MPs during the century. The House of Commons increased in size by 50%

· Trade required bankers, lawyers and other professions; the nobility and gentry did not work and therefore this became an emerging middle class
Problems of enclosure
· Enclosure of (common) land and engrossing of peasants strips into fields were both serious problems during the sixteenth century.

· Enclosure usually meant peasants being thrown off the land or becoming landless labourers rather than tenants.

· Enclosures were usually undertaken to change land use from arable crop growing to pasturage for sheep.

· Landlords were meant to get official permission for such changes in land use.

· Thomas More spoke of ‘sheep eating men’ in his book Utopia.
Wolsey and Enclosures

· Wolsey launched inquiries into illegal enclosure of land in 1517, 1518 and 1526. 

· Many landowners were enclosing land without permission in order to bring in sheep farming. The result was that tenants were often driven off the land or had less land to live off. 

· The inquiries achieved little but indicate that Wolsey at least took an interest in the problems of the poor. 

· Ultimately, it was hard for Wolsey to cut across the rights of property owners. 
Prosperity and depression

· The first half of the sixteenth century saw high inflation. In general, it was a time of hardship for the mass of the population.

· This was a contributory factor in the Pilgrimage of Grace, which was as much economic as it was religious.

· The wealthy, in particular, the gentry, were able to benefit from the rapid sale of the proceeds of the dissolution of the monasteries.

· Increased landholdings meant increased social standing. Gentry families came to dominate counties and served as Knights of the Shire (MPs).

· They served as JPs, who were the only form of local government apart from the Parish.

Religion

Renaissance ideas

· The ideas of humanists were well established by the 1530s. Almost all people in England were ready to accept the need for reform of the Church.

· Sir Thomas More was a supported of reform and humanist ideas, but opposed the royal supremacy.

· Many powerful figures went along with the religious changes after 1529, but remained conservative at heart. They might be called Henricians.

· Men like the Bishop of Winchester, Stephen Gardiner and most of the other bishops were prepared to agree with the Supremacy, Break with Rome, Dissolution of the monasteries and even the English Bible, but were opposed to doctrinal change and the destruction of images.

· All these men were erastians and pragmatists. They recognized the King’s power and thought it quite wrong, indeed sinful, to oppose the Supreme Head of the Church in an active way. 

· The nobility remained loyal to the Crown at the time of the Reformation but were not enthusiastic about the changes.

Continuity and change by 1547
· The King’s Supremacy was an important doctrinal change. It meant that England had broken away from Papal control and was not part of the Catholic Church.

· The Ten Articles 1536: Passed through Convocation by the bishops, these Articles made limited moves towards Lutheran ideas. 

· The King and Cromwell were interested in a possible alliance with the Lutheran Princes in Germany. These Articles were not officially approved by the King or passed through Parliament.

· Christ’s body was substantially present during the ceremony of the mass. This doctrine could be Catholic or Lutheran. 

· Catholics claimed that the bread and wine were totally transformed into the body and blood of Christ (transubstantiation) Lutherans claimed that body and bread co-existed (consubstantiation)

· Justification (salvation) was through faith joined with charity. This did not go as far as the Lutheran idea of Justification by Faith alone (solafideism) and could be interpreted as the Catholic doctrine of justification via faith and good works.

· Three of the Catholic Church’s Seven Sacraments (Eucharist, Baptism and Penance) were discussed and approved; the other four were not mentioned.

The Bishops’ Book 1537: Officially the Institution of a Christian Man
· This was drawn up by a committee of bishops to fill in the gaps left in the Ten Articles. There was fierce debate between conservative and more reforming bishops. Henry did not give his approval. When he did review it, he sent Cranmer 250 changes.

· The four lost sacraments (Marriage, Ordination, Confirmation and Extreme Unction) were rediscovered but declared less important than the other three.

· Faith was seen as more important than good works for salvation.

· Henry’s corrections were mainly designed to ensure that good works were seen as necessary for salvation.

Cromwell’s Injunctions 1536: Thomas Cromwell was Vicegerent in Spirituals (the King’s Deputy in Church affairs).

· Clergy were to educate children in the basics of Christian belief and to preach in favour of the Supremacy and the Ten Articles.

· The number of Holy Days (holidays) was reduced.

Cromwell’s Injunctions 1538

· Religious Images, which were the object of pilgrimage, were to be taken down.

· Candles in front of images were forbidden.

· Sermons to be preached against the veneration of images and relics.

· An English Bible: Both sets of Injunctions had urged the introduction of English Bibles into parish churches. By 1547 most churches had them, though access was restricted.

· Protestants had always insisted that a vernacular bible was crucial to true religion.

· Catholics were not against an English Bible in principle but thought that in practice, lay exposure to it would lead inevitably to disagreements and heresy.

· The English Bible was a major step towards a Protestant theology.

Reformation on hold 1538-40

· In the later years of Henry VIII’s reign, there were clear indications that reform was on hold and in some ways a return to Catholic doctrines and beliefs.

· 1538 John Lambert burnt at the stake. John Lambert was a reformer who argued, in line with Zwingli and other advanced reformers, that the body of Christ was not substantially present during the Eucharist. 

· Henry presided at the trial, indicating that such radical ideas on the Eucharist were not acceptable.

· 1539 The Act of Six Articles. This was an Act of Parliament with more authority than the Ten Articles passed by Convocation. It enshrined clear Catholic beliefs: 

· Transubstantiation – bread and wine became entirely the body and blood of Christ.

· Clerical celibacy – clergy not allowed to marry. Protestants allowed the clergy to marry.

· Communion in both kinds (bread and wine) reserved to the clergy. Laity to receive bread only.

· Vows of chastity important and to be upheld.

· Masses for the dead important.

· Auricular confession (oral confession of sins to a priest) ‘expedient and necessary’.

1540 Overthrow of Thomas Cromwell
· Cromwell had been the King’s chief adviser and was in favour of reform. 

· Cromwell's attempt to link England to Schmalkaldic League of Protestant princes in Germany went badly wrong. Marriage annulled.

· Instead Henry married Catherine Howard niece of leading conservative, the Duke of Norfolk.

· His dominant position had led to the undermining of conciliar government; Norfolk and Suffolk were not unhappy to find an opportunity to get rid if him.

· He was dismissed and executed for treason in 1540.

· He was accused of heresy but his real failure was linked to the disastrous failure of the king's marriage with Anne of Cleves. 

· Without him the reforming party was seriously weakened and the conservative faction around Norfolk and Gardiner moved into the ascendancy.

The King was the most important supporter of reform. 

· The English Church had long been erastian (controlled by the King) and the Supremacy made this a legal fact.

· The King’s support for reform was however lukewarm. 

· He wanted to use reforming ideas to break with Rome and achieve the annulment. 

· He remained frightened of the dangers of reforming ideas. Once he had achieved annulment and Supremacy, his support for reformers dwindled. 

· Henry at heart was a conservative Catholic in terms of his main religious beliefs - hence the conservative backlash after 1538.

There was mostly lukewarm support for religious change – acquiescence

· The days of the independent and rebellious regional magnates were over. None of the nobility had enough land or armed men to launch a military attack on the king.

· At the time of the most serious rebellion of the reign (the Pilgrimage of Grace 1536) the nobility – Norfolk, Suffolk, Shrewsbury remained loyal to the Crown. Those involved in the Pilgrimage of Grace were lesser landowners.

· The nobility were often conservative in religious affairs but realised that the Reformation might lead to material gains. Therefore they did little or nothing to oppose the changes.

· The so-called Exeter Conspiracy of 1538, involving some members of the aristocracy existed more in Thomas Cromwell’s imagination rather than in actual fact.

Faction Fighting in the 1540s
· Henry's last years were dominated by faction fighting between conservatives, led by Norfolk and Gardiner, who upheld Supremacy but wanted an end to other religious reforms and reformers, led by Cranmer and Seymour who wanted more reform.

· The King’s Book 1543: was a revision of the Bishops’ Book and endorsed by the King.

· Importance of the Bible played down.

· Importance of the Mass, transubstantiation and confession reinforced.

· Images were quite proper provided they were used without superstition.

· Act for the Advancement of true religion 1543; Henry was concerned to curb who could read and own the English Bible. 

· He was concerned that too open access was fomenting unrest and debate about religious doctrines

· Marriage to Catherine Parr 1543: at the same time, Henry chose a known reformer as his last wife. 

· Conservatives attempted to link her to Anne Askew but when Wriothesley came with a royal warrant to arrest her, Henry dismissed him.

Cranmer's position

· Cranmer seemed to be in a weak position in Henry's last years. His opposition to Act of 6 Articles had proved fruitless and execution of key ally Cromwell was a major blow. Plus Cranmer was secretly married!

· Nonetheless, Cranmer survived attempt by conservatives to charge him with heresy in 1543. He was the man Henry called for as he lay dying in 1547.

The ‘’Reforming coup’ of 1547

· Just before Henry's death, reformers became dominant faction at court.

· The indiscretions of Henry Howard, Earl of Surrey, Norfolk's son, led to his execution and the imprisonment of Norfolk. 

· Surrey was meant to have claimed that he should be regent for Prince Edward and even hoped to become king if Edward died.

· Gardiner was also in trouble with Henry over exchange of Church lands and execution of his nephew Germaine.

· At the same time, the reforming faction under the Seymours, Dudley and Cranmer was doing well. 

· Seymour and his Protestant allies controlled the Privy Chamber and thus access to dying Henry.

· Control of royal household also allowed them access to Henry's will and would allow them to disregard Henry's wishes about government for Prince Edward.

Part two: England: turmoil and triumph, England 1547-1603
Instability and consolidation: the ‘Mid-Tudor Crisis’, 1547-1563
Edward VI, Somerset and Northumberland

· In last years of Henry VIII, the monarchy seemed stronger than ever before.

· The king was now Head of the Church, giving the monarchy increased power and authority. To act against him was to act against God; the notion of divine right monarchy was reinforced.

· Henry VIII had carried out sweeping changes during the Reformation with only limited opposition.

· Despite the importance of Cromwell and Parliament, the directing hand behind the changes was the King’s.

· He allowed moves towards Protestantism in the 1530s; then moved decisively in favour of a Catholic theology after 1539.

· The Six Articles of 1539 and the King’s Book of 1543 were his work.

· Henry decided to allow the Bible to be translated into English; he was portrayed inside it, handing it to his people. Henry saw himself as a new King Solomon.

· Henry seemed to enjoy being seen to exercise his power e.g. supported but then foiled attempts to arrest Cranmer in 1543 and Catherine Parr in 1546.

However, the monarchy seemed to be weaker when Henry died in 1547.

· He left the throne to a minor, Edward who was only nine years old. The last royal minority (that of Edward V in 1483) had ended in disaster when Richard III murdered his nephew and took the throne for himself. 

· In 1547, Henry VIII’s wishes were ignored as Edward Seymour (Edward VI’s uncle, brother of Edward’s mother Jane) made himself Protector. 

· The ambivalent nature of the Henrician Reformation meant that there was a great deal of uncertainty about the future direction of religious policy. 

· Henry VIII had wanted an end to religious change and debate – Seymour had come to power with Protestant/Reforming allies but Catholic/Conservatives, e.g. Gardiner, were still powerful.

· The heir to the throne, according to Henry VIII’s third Succession Act (1544) was a staunch Catholic – Princess Mary.

The rule of Somerset
· He pushed through limited religious change. Prayer Book of 1549 seemed acceptable to Catholics e.g. Gardiner and did not satisfy radical Protestants. Priests allowed to marry; Chantries abolished.

· Somerset realized that more radical religious change might lead to rebellion and instability.

· Religious changes led to only limited opposition in Devon and Cornwall (Western Rebellion 1549).

· He was prepared to execute his brother Thomas Seymour who seemed to entertain hopes of taking power and marrying Princess Elizabeth.

Somerset generally lacked the ability to govern well
· Foreign Policy was pretty disastrous. Did defeat Scots at Battle of Pinkie in 1547 but attempts to convert Scots to Protestantism via expensive garrisons and English Bibles proved too expensive. (c. £600,000).
· Attack on Scots provoked war with France (Scotland’s ally). Mary Queen of Scots later marries Francis II of France, re-establishing the ‘auld alliance’ between England’s enemies.

· He ruled autocratically without reference to his fellow Councillors.
· Many changes were brought in by Proclamations rather than Acts of Parliament.

· He made big gains for himself from the dissolution of the chantries. He awarded himself a dukedom.

· He had not shown great ability under Henry VIII but used his position as the King’s brother-in-law to advance his fortunes.

· He subverted Henry VIII’s will, which had named a balanced Council to rule in Edward’s name until he came of age. In this way his authority could be seen as illegitimate 

· He appeared to be sympathetic to the poor and dispossessed and possibly encouraged Kett’s Rebellion against enclosures and other more localised disturbances in many southern counties in 1549.

· Despite his religious reforms, he was not seen as a true Protestant. He was motivated more by political and personal advantage.

· He spent too much money, leading to large debts for the Crown, which would be difficult to pay off. He inherited huge debts from Henry VIII.

· He spent around £580,000 on warfare 1547-9, plus £30,000 a year for maintaining Boulogne (captured from the French by Henry VIII) and the English navy.

· He diverted some £20,000 of the Crown’s annual revenue into private hands.

The rule of Northumberland

· He managed to further the Protestant Reformation without causing popular unrest; 1552 Prayer Book more radical than 1549; 42 Articles of Religion drawn up by Cranmer 1553

· He sorted out Somerset’s poor foreign policy and made peace with France by selling back Boulogne.

· He ruled as Lord President of the Council, rather than elevating himself to position as Protector.

· Not faced by serious internal opposition during his rule – Somerset was executed (1552) but he was still unpopular and there was no reaction to his death.

· Came to power defensively. With Somerset’s fall, in 1549, he was under attack from Gardiner and Wriothesly; therefore he became effective ruler as a way of defending himself from his enemies.

· He introduced some measures designed at fiscal retrenchment for the Crown. 

· Some savings were made, royal debt decreasing by end of Edward’s reign.

· Debasement of the coinage eventually abandoned. New coin issue in 1552 to stabilize the currency.

· Royal Commission makes survey of royal revenues, analysing faults, corruption and inefficiency.

· Ended expense of war.

Northumberland had his failings

· He attempted to subvert the succession by putting forward Lady Jane Grey as Queen when Edward VI died. Although backed by Edward himself, the scheme was illegal. 
· Edward was still a minor and the succession was still subject to Henry VIII’s third Succession Act of 1544, which declared Mary to be Edward’s heir.

· The marriage of Lady Jane to Northumberland’s son, Guildford Dudley, highlighted Northumberland’s ambition. He hoped his grandson would be king.

· He recanted his Protestant beliefs, before his execution confirming the view that, for Northumberland, religious reform was a convenient cloak for political ambition. 

The social impact of religious changes under Edward VI
· All Churches to have copies of Erasmus’ paraphrases on the Gospels

· Clergy encouraged to use Cranmer’s Book of Homilies as basis of sermons to their congregations.

· Act of Revilers 1547 allowed laity to receive wine as well as bread at the ceremony of the Mass.

· Destruction of Chantries

· Repeal of Act of Six Articles of 1539

· Privy Council authorises attacks on ceremonies, images and superstition.

· 1549 - First Edwardian Prayer Book. Drawn up by a committee of bishops headed by Cranmer and passed by Parliament. Written in English and enforced by an Act of Uniformity.

· Priests were allowed to marry.

Further Protestant Reform under Northumberland
· 1550 New Ordinal – order of service for the ordination of new priests. More stress on preaching the Word of God, less stress on ceremonies and rituals

· Purge of conservative bishops – Gardiner of Winchester, Heath of Worcester, Day of Chichester and Tunstall of Durham.

· Some altars moved from eastern end and placed in main body (nave) of churches especially in London under direction of reforming Bishop Ridley.

· 1552 - Second Edwardian Prayer Book. More radical than 1549. Vestments now black and white, moving of altars now official policy. 
· Mass renamed Lord’s Supper and given more memorialist interpretation i.e. that bread and wine did not change but merely symbolised Christ’s body and blood.

· 1553 - 42 Articles of Religion. Written by Cranmer, they emphasised: Centrality of Bible; Justification by Faith alone; Predestination

Society: problems in the regions
Stirs of 1549

· Biggest protest against enclosure and other actions of improving landlords came in Kett's Rebellion and associated risings/stirs of 1549.

· They were called ‘rebellions of the commonwealth’.

· Rebels were against recent enclosures and increased rents and wanted a return to the situation in 1485, when Henry VII became king.

· Rebels were encouraged by apparent sympathy from Somerset and Hales Commission which looked into illegal enclosure.

· During the rebellion, Somerset promised a new commission with effective power to tear down illegal enclosures.

· The failure of rebellion and the fall of Somerset meant that the rebels’ protests were ignored and the power of the landowners strengthened.

Food Riots

· These were few and far between in sixteenth century England.

· There are serious fluctuations in food prices because of a run of bad harvests in 1550s and 1590s but limited unrest associated with them.

· Some local riots sparked off by belief that dearth/shortage of food was being created by unscrupulous landlords who stored grain in order to push up prices.

The Western Rebellion, 1547-1549 

· Spring/Summer 1549 saw a whole series of localised disturbances, mainly in the South of England. 

· Causes were largely agrarian – high taxes, enclosures and repressive landlords.

· In Cornwall and Devon, such grievances were overlaid with hostility to the Edwardian religious changes. They denounced the Bible and Prayer Book in English.

· They demanded return, in religion, to last days of Henry VIII, claiming Edward was too young to bring in changes.

· There was also hostility to new taxes brought in by Somerset on sheep and the sale of woollen cloth, to help pay for war and worries about inflation. Rumours of further taxes fanned the flames.

· The absence of local and powerful aristocratic family allowed disturbances to spread – Courtenay Earls of Devon largely destroyed during so called Exeter Conspiracy 1538.

· Cranmer wrote a long reply to rebels’ complaints about religious change.

Impact and results of Rising

· Rising seemed very serious at first. Rebels in Cornwall and Devon link up. Exeter, important regional capital besieged. 

· Local government effectively suspended for two months by uprising. Lord Russell has to be sent in but nervous of taking on the rebels until reinforced. 

· Relieving force under the Earl of Warwick diverted to Kett’s Rising in East Anglia instead.

· Rebels only dispersed after several skirmishes.

· Credibility of Somerset’s regime is undermined. He reacts too slowly to the uprising.

· France declares war on England during the rebellion, as a result of Somerset’s war against Scotland.

· Rebels were led by gentry and clergy and were well organized. 2,000 – 3,000 strong in camp outside Exeter.

· Overall perhaps 4,000 rebels died at hands of government forces.

The Commotions of 1549 and Kett’s Rebellion 

· The rebels complained about local misgovernment. 

· Gentry landowners were changing old practices especially enclosure of land. 

· Rebellion started with enclosure hedges being pulled down. Sheep introduced as a result of enclosure slaughtered during the rebellion.

· Rebels claimed that they were encouraged in this by the policies of Somerset, who seemed to sympathise with their plight.

· His patronage of John Hales, who was against illegal enclosure and headed a commission in 1548, which investigated enclosure in the Midlands, suggested that he was sympathetic. 

· Rebels always claimed they were loyal to the King and Protector and expected help from central government.

· The great aristocratic family of the area, the Howard Dukes of Norfolk had recently (1547) been brought low and no one family powerful enough to sort out the trouble before it became a rebellion.

· Rebels seemed to accept the religious changes. The clergy involved tended to use new Prayer Book. Several rebels expressed hostility to catholic ceremony and theology.

Impact and results

· Rebels set up series of camps in Norfolk and Suffolk. They take the regional capital Norwich with little opposition.

· Earl of Northampton was sent in to deal with the rebellion but did not have enough troops.

· Rebels were finally destroyed by forces under the Earl of Warwick (future Duke of Northumberland) at Dussindale outside Norwich. Some 3,000 killed. Kett later executed.

· Somerset was overthrown by other Councillors in October. Widespread uprisings of 1549 blamed on him.

The problem of the Succession in 1553 and rebellions of 1553 and 1554
Succession Crisis 1553

· Caused by illness and death of Edward VI aged 15 in July 1553

· Edward himself and Northumberland wished to avoid succession of Princess Mary - Catholic daughter of Catherine of Aragon.
· Edward wrote a 'device' for the succession in which he named Lady Jane Grey and her heirs as heirs to the throne. 
· Jane was eldest grand-daughter of Henry VIII's younger sister Mary, was a good Protestant and recently married to Northumberland's son.
Failure of the Conspiracy

· Conspiracy had important legal weaknesses. As a minor Edward could not make a legal will.

· No adult king had tried to alter the succession on his own say so.

· Succession after Edward was already determined by Succession Act of 1543, which declared that Mary was Edward's heir if he died childless.

· Northumberland failed to capture Mary before Edward's death. She was able to reach her estates in East Anglia and call on loyal gentry to back her.

· Northumberland's Counsellors backed down in the face of Mary's popularity, when Northumberland gathered troops to oppose the princess.

· Mary's success was bloodless and showed respect for the law and for Edward's real heir, despite her known Catholicism.

· Conspiracy seen as a desperate attempt by ambitious Northumberland to cling on to power after Edward's death.
Wyatt’s Rebellion – January-February 1554

Causes

· Xenophobia. Mary’s intention to marry Philip II of Spain led to fears that Spain would take control of England. Rebels may have been encouraged by France.

· Protestantism. Some of the rebels, including Wyatt, hoped to destroy Spanish and Catholic threat by assassinating Mary and replacing her with Elizabeth, who might then marry Edward Courtenay (great-grandson of Edward IV) Wyatt said ‘We mind only the restitution of God’s word’.
Impact and Results

· News of the rebellion (planned for March) reached the government. The four-pronged assault on London failed.

· Rebels tried to rise early and three of the planned risings (in West Country, Leicestershire and Welsh borders) failed to materialize.

· Forces under Thomas Wyatt in Kent penetrated London but not the city of London and then destroyed by loyal forces under the Earl of Pembroke.

· Mary rallied Londoners to her cause. Guildhall speech.

· 350 Kentish men were convicted of conspiracy; only 30 of these, including Wyatt, were executed. Total number of executions after the risings was 90.

· Rebellion led to executions of Lady Jane Grey, her husband, Guildford Dudley and her father the Duke of Suffolk.

· Rebellion nearly very serious. Did get to London and probably hoped to overthrow Mary in favour of Elizabeth. This would bring back Protestantism and prevent Spanish marriage.

· However, rebel aims were confused. Mainly a protest against a marriage that had not yet happened. Many supporters did not anticipate overthrow of the queen. 
· Even Protestant leaders thought she had triumphed in 1553 against Lady Jane because of God's will. She was the rightful heir.

Mary I and her ministers
Problems at her Accession

· She was the first female sovereign. Many Protestants against the idea of female rule – see John Knox (Scottish Calvinist leader’s pamphlet of 1558 ‘First Blast of the Trumpet Against the Monstrous Regiment (i.e. rule by) Women’.

· She had been disfigured by events before 1553; spectacular divorce of mother (Catherine of Aragon) by father (Henry VIII);

· Unable to marry (she was already 37 at her accession) because of danger to realm which might be posed by her husband – Catholics saw her as real sovereign as early as 1534!

· Spent much of her adult life under house arrest; fearful of execution under Edward VI for failure to conform to Edwardian Settlement.

· Marriage would be vital once she did become Queen, to provide a Catholic heir, but would always be controversial – fear that the husband, whether English aristocracy or foreign prince, would become real ruler.

· A firm Catholic, it was her duty to God to change the religious Settlement once again and bring England back to Papal obedience.

· Her accession in preference to Lady Jane Grey, indicated to Mary, God’s special favour

· Mary inherited a difficult situation as Counsellors had been divided over support for Northumberland and Lady Jane Grey. Yet Mary soon imposed order.

· Disagreements between Counsellors about religious policy and marriage were inevitable BUT Mary imposed her will on her advisers. As the first female sovereign, she conducted herself well. 

· Gardiner, Rochester and Imperial ambassador Renard wanted swift return to Catholicism and harsh measures for heretics and Princess Elizabeth. Paget, Petre, Arundel and Pembroke wanted slower pace of change and limited persecution.

· Councillors divided about the Queen’s marriage. Paget favoured Spanish match, while Gardiner and most of the others favoured Edward Courtenay, son of the Marquis of Exeter. 

· Most Counsellors were probably against Spanish Marriage and war against France 

· BUT in all cases, Mary got her way and disagreements did not cause serious divisions. Mary, having listened to differing advice, did what she wanted, exercising her sovereign rights. 

· Counsellors were there to advise; so Conciliar government was restored effectively, after its abrogation by Somerset and restoration by Northumberland.

Relations with Parliament

· Mary’s government worked well with parliament.

· No serious opposition over religious changes. Perhaps 25% oppose First Statute of Repeal in 1553. This was most significant opposition in Parliament during the reign.

· Mary conceded on non-return of monastic lands.

· Some of the opposition in Parliament emanated from within the Privy Council.

· Gardiner attempted to pass act reviving old heresy laws in April 1554, as means of gaining favour with Mary but defeated by Paget. Six months later, with Paget more secure, same bill passed without opposition.

· Crown and Parliament co-operated in economic sphere.

· Three acts passed designed to preserve the rights of towns to regulate retail trade and cloth making.

· Militia Act and Arms Act (1558) improve town defences

· More towns receive corporate status under Mary-average goes up to 4 towns pa., e.g. High Wycombe.
Successful Financial Policies

· Some major improvements to royal finances under Mary.

· Revenue courts reformed as a result of report of 1552 Commission (see continuity in government between Edward and Mary)

· 1554 Paulet (Winchester) annexed Courts of First Fruits and Tenths and of Augmentations to the Exchequer. These reforms set up financial system, which operates until Civil War of 1642.

· Increased revenue from Crown lands. 1555 Privy Council orders survey of Crown lands in order to increase rents. Royal revenue from Crown lands may have increased by £40,000 pa.

· New Book of Rates for Customs (1558) introduced by Paulet. Revenue to crown from customs goes up from £29,000 in 1558 to £83,000 in 1559.

· Royal revenue reached c£265,000 pa. in early years of Elizabeth. This was a major improvement on what Mary had inherited.

· By summer 1557, Mary’s Counsellors had drawn up plans for a full recoinage to get rid of the debased coinage in circulation.

· They failed to implement this because of serious economic and social problems at the time.

· Marian plan adopted and implemented successfully in early years of Elizabeth’s reign (1560-1)

Military Reforms

· Mary’s government Improved defences

· Navy reforms mean big increase in building new warships 1555-8. These ships help Elizabeth in her successful intervention in Scotland in 1560.

· Fortifications at Berwick rebuilt.

· Acts to improve the county militias.
Relations with foreign powers

The Spanish Marriage

· The Spanish marriage was a bold and successful move.

· The terms of the marriage treaty made it clear that Philip would not be able to wield power in England. 

· If a child had been born, it would have inherited the Low Countries as well as England. 

· Spanish alliance enhanced England’s standing in Europe. England part of successful war against France culminating in Battle of St. Quentin (1557) and Peace of Cateau-Cambrésis (1559).

· Philip arrived in summer 1554 but no child of the marriage. Leaves August 1554, returns spring 1557.

· Some ‘affrays’ involving English and Philip’s Spanish entourage but exaggerated by English xenophobia.

· Philip stayed above faction fighting at court in a way that would have been impossible if Mary had married an Englishman.
· In March 1556, Philip persuaded Mary to support Spain in a war against France. 
· The Privy Council knew that England could not afford a foreign war but reluctantly agreed to declare war on France.
· While the war went well for the Earl of Pembroke, who led the English army, the same was not true for the garrison at Calais. 
· While Pembroke was involved in a decisive battle against the French at St. Quentin in 1557, a French force defeated the English garrison at Calais, which fell on January 13th 1558.
· The loss of Calais was a humiliating blow for the English government. It managed to find the money to finance an army of 7,000 soldiers and 140 ships. 
· However, rather than attack Calais, the force attempted to take Brest. They found that Brest was too heavily defended and captured a much smaller port, Le Conquet, instead.
· Many expected a decisive battle between Henry II and Philip II. Instead, both men preferred to negotiate a settlement. The death of Mary in November 1558 took England out of the equation. 

The social impact of religious and economic changes under Mary I
Religious changes under Mary

· Mary’s reign saw a reversal of the Protestant changes introduced by Somerset and Northumberland.

· In 1553, the Edwardian settlement was repealed by Parliament: end of 1552 Prayer Book, 42 Articles and Act of Uniformity.

· In 1554, Cardinal Reginald Pole returned to England as Papal Legate. England readmitted to the Roman Catholic Church.

· Leading Protestant bishops Ridley, Hooper, Latimer and Cranmer imprisoned and later executed for refusal to recant their Protestant beliefs. Other bishops conform.

· Most parish clergy conform to Catholicism. Many deprived for being married but most are soon reinstated. In London and Norwich, where Protestantism is more established, some 25% parish priests initially lose their benefices for being married but most are restored

· Monastic and other Church lands secularised during the Protestant Reformation not returned. This was a major blow to the Papacy but Mary’s government accepted defeat.

· Pole made Archbishop of Canterbury and introduced moderate reforms designed to improve the quality of the clergy, e.g. seminaries for education of clergy to be set up in all sees. 
· Pole hoped to sponsor Catholic translation of Bible and Prayer Book into English. Regime accepted that English Bible is here to stay.

· Burning of Protestants (224 between 1555 and 1558) most controversial aspect of Catholic Reformation. None was powerful or widely popular. 
· Even Foxe in his Book of Martyrs showed that there was little popular support for the Protestant martyrs or indeed Protestantism at the time. 
· Many Protestant gentry may have escaped persecution because of their social status. Certainly no indication that the persecution was going to reverse religious changes. 
· Scale of burnings decreasing – 40 executed in 1558, 70 to 95 pa. in previous three years.

Reasons for success
· She restored the Roman Catholic Faith to England but did so in a gradual way, which aroused only limited opposition (Wyatt’s rebellion 1554).

· 1553 Parliament abrogated all existing Edwardian legislation – restores religious position of last years of Henry VIII including ‘catholic’ Act of Six Articles.

· Jan 1555 Parliament passed second ‘Statute of Repeal’ whereby all acts passed against the Papacy since 1529 were abolished.

· Same parliament (1555) revived medieval heresy laws, which will be used to persecute Protestant heretics in last three years of the reign.

· 1555 - Papal Supremacy reaccepted. Cardinal Pole (English catholic exile) sent as Papal legate and later made Archbishop of Canterbury.

· The appointment of Reginald Pole as Papal Legate and Archbishop of Canterbury emphasised that Mary’s Catholic Reformation was not designed to be vindictive. 

· Pole represented the more moderate Catholic response to Protestantism – like Cardinal Contarini he believed that the key to defeating the Protestants was not to deserve their criticism.

· Mary refused to embrace more extreme Catholic responses to heresy – Inquisition, Index and Jesuits – which encouraged serious persecution and religious wars.

· In fact her moderation and failure to ‘discover’ the hard-line Counter-Reformation was the key to her success.

· Mary and Pole appointed good bishops: White to Winchester, Christopherson to Chichester, Pate to Worcester and Goldwell to St. Asaph.

· The bench of Catholic bishops under Mary were an effective spearhead for attempt to reintroduce re-invigorated Catholicism to England.

· When Protestantism was brought back by Elizabeth in 1559, all but one of the Catholic bishops resigned (Kitchen of Llandaff was the exception). This was rather different to the response of ‘Protestant’ bishops in 1553.

· Mary and Pole’s Catholic Reformation also moderate because they accepted that some ‘Protestant’ changes could not be reversed.

· Accepted that land and property of Monasteries and Chantries would not come back; did not try to re-establish shrines and centres of pilgrimage.

· Restoration of Catholic altars, roods etc at Parish level depends on the finances and views of local people.

· Bibles in English allowed.

· Key ritual to return is the Catholic Mass, where priest elevates the host. Bread and wine become the body and blood of Christ (transubstantiation). 
· This had still been official doctrine in 1547 (Act of Six Articles) and had only been effectively changed by Second Edwardian Prayer Book of 1552. Most people were thus well used to this doctrine.

· There was no serious or concerted opposition to Mary’s radical religious changes because the government was united.
· Leading Protestants such as Sir Anthony Cooke, Sir Francis Knollys, Edmund Grindal (future Archbishop of Canterbury under Elizabeth) and John Jewel all fled abroad.

· Vast majority of English men and women conformed to Mary’s religious settlement.

· Counter-productive nature of the burning of more than 200 Protestants should not be exaggerated.

· Mary and leading bishops believed that heresy had to be destroyed to preserve the Faith.

· Number burned represents 5 per month over three-year period. Not enormous in scale in an age when capital punishment was used regularly.

· Government and bishops aimed at recantation rather than execution. Hundreds officially recant their Protestantism (even Cranmer did so).

· Vast majority of Protestants do conform to new religious settlement and attend Catholic services. Burnings were an effective deterrent.

· Clear that, if Mary had lived longer and provided a Catholic heir, persecution would have diminished in longer term.

· John Foxe’s Book of Martyrs, playing up significance of the burnings, is Elizabethan Protestant propaganda.

Death and disillusion

· Deaths of Mary and Pole within a few days of each other (Nov 1558) combined with loss of Calais (Jan.1558) and a serious food crisis (worst harvest of the century 1556-7) give unfair impression of regime doomed to failure.

· Accession and longevity of Elizabeth made it too easy to see Mary’s reign as an unproductive, reactionary and unsuccessful interlude. 

· Bad luck not bad government led to failure of regime’s reforms.

· Long-term success depended on Mary living to a relatively advanced age and having a Catholic heir.

· She was 37 at her accession and unmarried. Always unlikely that she would have a baby, especially given the problems her mother (Catherine of Aragon) faced in this area!

· She died of cancer at the age of only 42.

· Her heir was her Protestant half sister, Princess Elizabeth, daughter of Henry VIII and Anne Boleyn.

· Accession of Queen Elizabeth meant that there would be a further round of changes in religion to make the English Church Protestant once more. This happened because:

· 1558 Queen Mary died. She had no children and was succeeded by her Protestant half-sister Princess Elizabeth.

· Although not fervently religious, Elizabeth, as the daughter of the reformer Anne Boleyn was clearly Protestant. She had been imprisoned in the Tower for failure to conform to Catholicism during Mary’s reign.

· In Catholic eyes Elizabeth was illegitimate and therefore could not be queen. The real queen was her cousin the Catholic Mary Queen of Scots.

· The persecution and burning of some 224 Protestants in Mary’s last years was clearly unpopular.

· Many leading English Protestants (perhaps 800 or so) had fled abroad during Mary’s reign. 

· They returned in 1558/9 convinced that God had granted them the opportunity to build a new Protestant Church of England. 

· 15 of them later became bishops under Elizabeth (including Grindal, Sandys and Jewel). Returning exiles also included leading laymen in the new regime – Walsingham, Knollys and Cooke.

The Elizabethan Settlement 1559-63

· Elizabeth became queen at the age of 25. It was very rare for a woman to be a monarch.

· Most people expected her to marry very quickly. For many years, her courtiers and ministers urged to marry.

· Elizabeth had had a very difficult life. Her mother, Anne Boleyn, had been executed in 1536 and she had been declared illegitimate.

· Elizabeth was imprisoned in The Tower for several years and her life was in danger. She was at Hatfield House when news came of Mary’s death.

· Elizabeth had been very well educated on her father’s orders. She spoke four or five languages, including Welsh, which she learned from her nurse.

· She was quick-witted, clever and able to use feminine wiles to get her own way. 

· Elizabeth could be as ruthless and calculating as any king before her, but, at the same time, she was vain, sentimental and easily swayed by flattery. 

· She liked to surround herself with attractive people and her portraits were carefully vetted to make sure that no physical flaws were ever revealed.
· She encouraged people to buy couples of her portraits as a sign of loyalty.
· Portraits were approved by Elizabeth. They usually showed her looking to the left (her right). 
· Elizabeth was vain and proud. She wore heavy make-up throughout her life, partly to hide small pox scars, but also to disguise the signs of ageing.
Consolidation of power

· The Settlement was made up of several parts, which were meant to establish the new English Protestant Church.

· It was expected that, once established, there would be no further changes to the Church Settlement. 

1559 Act of Supremacy

· Repealed the authority of the Pope

· Replaced it with a royal Supremacy, except that Elizabeth was made Supreme Governor NOT Supreme Head as her father (Henry VIII) had been. 

· This was because, as a woman, she could not be a priest. So her power over the English Church was not as great as Henry VIII’s had been. In addition Parliament came to see itself as the real arbiter of religious change.

1559 Act of Uniformity

· Authorized the use of a new English Prayer Book based on the Edwardian Book of 1552. 

· However the changes made to the 1552 book show that Elizabeth and her advisers were aiming at a moderate statement of doctrine, which would appeal to moderate Catholics as well as Protestants.

· Offensive references to the Pope in the 1552 Prayer Book were omitted.

· Black Rubric in 1552 Book was removed. This had explained that kneeling to receive Communion signified respect NOT adoration. 

· In other words, it undermined Catholic idea that bread and wine became the body and blood of Christ (transubstantiation). 

· By omitting it, more conservative worshippers could believe that the body of Christ WAS present.

· Similarly, new Prayer Book included sentences from the conservative 1549 Prayer Book at the time that the bread and wine was offered to the congregation. 

· In particular the phrase ‘the body of Our Lord Jesus Christ, which was given for thee…’ reappeared alongside ‘take and eat this in remembrance that Christ died for thee…’

· Ornaments Rubric enforced the wearing of Catholic vestments by the clergy

1559 Royal Injunctions

· Much of the detail was filled in by a set of Royal Injunctions, which were delivered to all churches by Royal Commissioners.

 Some were clearly Protestant in emphasis.

· Preaching controlled by a system of licenses issued by the local bishop. At least four sermons a year to be preached in support of the Royal Supremacy.

· Every Church to have an English Bible and a copy of Erasmus’ Paraphrases.

· Most sermons to come from the official Book of Homilies originally written by Thomas Cranmer (executed under Queen Mary).

· Parish clergy to instruct young people in 10 Commandments, Lord’s Prayer and Catechism.

· Shrines, images and all other items in church, which might foster idolatry and superstition to be removed.

Other articles were designed to curb ideas of more radical Protestants (puritans) and to inhibit further religious change.

· All books and pamphlets on religion to be licensed by Commissioners, Royal Councillors or bishops.

· Clergy to wear vestments worn during Edward’s reign.

· No more altars to be destroyed but are to be called communion tables.

1563 The 39 Articles of Religion

· These were passed by Convocation (Church Assembly) not Parliament and explained key areas of religious doctrine in a Protestant way. 

· They were based heavily on the 42 Articles drawn up by Archbishop Cranmer in the last year of Edward VI’s reign. Stressed the following ideas:

· Importance of the Bible – it contains all things necessary to salvation.

· Predestination asserted – God had already determined who was to be saved

· Justification (salvation) is through Faith only in Jesus Christ, not via good works.

The Triumph of Elizabeth, 1563-1603
Establishment of Regime

· She was a female ruler in man's world. Councillors didn't expect her to interfere. Mary was seen as bad role model. 

· Elizabeth herself determined to rule as well as reign. Did not want to rule through a favourite/chief minister - as Henry VIII had done with Wolsey. 

· Serious problem of marriage to provide Protestant heir. Would she be dominated by a foreign prince (like Mary) or would she favour an English aristocrat (Dudley/Courtenay) at the expense of others peers.

· Protestant queen taking over a Catholic country - Mary's Reformation seen as successful. Would be hard to establish a new Protestant Settlement.

· Many Catholics didn't recognize her right to rule - bastard daughter of Anne Boleyn.

· Relatively youthful (25) and no experience of government. Had spent time in gaol.

Elizabethan government
Role of Court and Privy Council

· Court important political centre as it is group of courtiers who attend upon the Queen on daily basis.

· Courtiers sought to influence policy and to gain preferment from the queen, who commanded extensive patronage.

· Few scandals (sexual or financial) at Elizabethan Court.

· Privy Council now more formalised. Met regularly (c3 times per week at start of reign, most days in last decade of reign.

· Had four clerks to take minutes. Met at Court. About 12 to 18 men at full meetings, routine business handled by inner group of 4 or 6.

· Elizabeth took personal interest and attended/directed some meetings.

· Privy Council also dealt with hundreds of petitions from around country seeking redress of grievances. PC linked centre and peripheries.

Elizabeth’s ministers
· Elizabeth was well served by group of dedicated and conscientious ministers. Most were more concerned with national interest rather than serving their own interests. 

· Most were keen Protestants united in their desire to defend Church of England from internal and external threats.

· William Cecil, Lord Burghley was the key minister until his death in 1598. Served as Secretary then Lord Treasurer. 

· Although powerful and pragmatic, he was never seen as a favourite and did not dominate government in the way that Wolsey had under Henry VIII.

· Francis Walsingham was the spymaster, increasingly important as threats to Elizabeth from Catholics mounted. 

· Uncovered plots centring on overthrow of Elizabeth in favour of Mary, Queen of Scots.

· Leicester (Robert Dudley) friend since childhood (in Tower together after Wyatt's rebellion).

· Possibly had ambitions of marrying Elizabeth but hopes destroyed by mysterious death of his wife Amy Robsart. Led ill-fated expedition to help Dutch rebels against Spain.

· William Paulet and Walter Mildmay were main financial administrators. Both very competent, especially Paulet.

· Other important courtiers and ministers were Christopher Hatton, (Chancellor of the Exchequer) Henry Sidney and the Earl of Sussex (President of Council of the North).

· Many of these ministers - Burghley, Walsingham, Leicester serve for long periods. Air of stability at court. No notable scandals unlike Court of James I.

· Queen well served by her bishops - ministers of the Church - especially Parker and Whitgift. Bench of bishops pretty competent and few scandals. Another source of stability in regime.

Faction fighting

· On the whole faction fighting was limited as ministers shared same aims.

· In 1560s two rival groupings around Cecil and Leicester, mainly concerned with foreign policy. Leicester wanted more aggressive policy against Spain. Cecil more cautious. 

· Walsingham, a zealous Protestant, moved from Cecil to Leicester group. Culminated in 'crisis' in 1569, with attempts to remove Cecil.

· Also disagreement about trying to get Elizabeth to marry Norfolk. Arundel, Leicester and Pembroke favoured this, Cecil against because he knew that Elizabeth could not be persuaded.

· In 1590s two rival groupings around Earl of Essex and Robert Cecil. Essex, vain and spoilt hated Cecil and convinced that he was plotting to keep him out of favour. Cecil helped to goad Essex into 'rebellion' in 1601 which led to his execution.

· Some serious antagonisms/upsets even amongst political allies when it came to financial rewards available from the Queen. Courtiers often jealous of each other's financial rewards.

· Otherwise, faction fighting not a serious problem. Ministers united in face of serious problems. Often united against Elizabeth, especially on the issue of marriage and the succession.

· Elizabeth handled inevitable disagreements between courtiers well as means of divide and rule.

· Handled patronage in even handed way - didn't create a group which felt embittered about loss/lack of influence until Essex crisis.

· Councillors/ministers always knew that Elizabeth was in charge. Gave up when Queen finally made a decision.

Elizabeth and Parliament

· Parliament was certainly more powerful in 1559 compared to 1529

· Passed and then repealed all the major changes in religion since 1534. This was unprecedented.

· Parliament, at least House of Commons, getting bigger, more unwieldy. Lords without abbots, getting smaller.

· Parliament acted as important safety-valve and as genuine agent of political consensus in times of crisis/change.

· House of Lords more powerful chamber made up of titled aristocracy plus all the bishops.

· Dissolution of monasteries meant that laymen now had clear majority in house.

· Elizabethan peers tend to be better educated than predecessors and many were ministers and/or served on the Privy Council.

· Often 'opposition' in House of Commons was orchestrated and controlled/encouraged by members of House of Lords, sometimes members of Privy Council, who wanted to put pressure on Elizabeth. 

· Used 'men of business'/political clients to raise their ideas in Commons (e.g. Thomas Norton often represented views of his patron Burghley)

· House of Commons became more powerful and certainly more combative during the reign.

· Puritans and other Protestants were especially vociferous about the key issues, which affect their religion e.g. succession and marriage of Elizabeth, destruction of Norfolk and Mary Queen of Scots, need for reform of Church.

· Elizabethan MPs more educated than predecessors.

· Puritanism endowed many with self-righteousness which gave them confidence to criticise government policy and even the Queen.

· Wentworth and others developed idea that parliament was there to represent to interests of the commonwealth rather than to rubber-stamp government decisions/grant money.

Parliamentary privilege

· Paul Wentworth was something of a lone voice who believed that Parliament should have freedom of speech as MPs and Lords were representatives of the Commonwealth. 

· He reacted to Elizabeth's use of vetoes to stop further discussion in Commons on important topics.

· Wentworth imprisoned several times for speaking out and claimed that this was illegal.

BUT increasing power of parliament should not be exaggerated.

· No political parties in parliament. No serious organization of opposition.

· Some 'so-called' opposition was orchestrated by councillors, not a direct threat to the Crown.

· In most areas, Elizabeth refused to give in to parliamentary demands or change her policy. 

· Church Settlement not changed. Mary Queen of Scots executed when Elizabeth finally agreed to it, 19 years after Mary's arrival in England. 

· Elizabeth continued to allow freedom of speech but qualified it as ‘liberty of speech for the well debating of matters propounded’.

· She reserved to herself the right to control what the Commons might, or might not, discuss.
· Some Members, however, notably Peter Wentworth and his brother Paul, challenged this restriction on the grounds that traditionally Parliament had a counselling role.

· On successive occasions a handful of Members doggedly asserted their right to speak openly on any topic. 

· In attempting to silence them it was Elizabeth, rather than the proponents of free speech, who was the innovator. 

· She monitored the Commons via the placement of councillors and courtiers in the Lower House to a greater extent than her predecessors had ever done.

· The first direct clash over freedom of speech occurred in November 1566 when the Commons asked the Lords to jointly petition Elizabeth to marry and settle the succession. She blocked further debate, 

· In 1571, became more explicit than hitherto. The succession, foreign policy, and anything touching the prerogative including religion, were off-limits. 
Relations between the Queen and Parliament

· Marriage and the succession were key points of conflict from start of reign.

· Most MPs and members of Lords wanted Elizabeth to marry quickly to provide a Protestant heir. Could not understand Elizabeth's unwillingness to marry.

· Elizabeth nearly died of smallpox in 1562; this brought issue into high relief.

· As a result parliament tried to put a 'promise to marry' in preamble of subsidy bill in 1566. Some historians think that Burghley was behind this move.

· Parliament demands execution of Norfolk. Elizabeth resists but after Ridolfi Plot forced to give way to parliamentary pressure in order to save Mary, Queen of Scots.

Conclusions

· Parliament under Elizabeth certainly put the Queen under pressure. On a whole range of important issues, Lords and Commons felt free to express their opposition to government policy. 

· Range and nature of debates were certainly very different to days of Henry VIII.

· Parliament was used by Privy Councillors and other ministers to put pressure on the Queen.

· Parliament still held purse strings when Elizabeth's finances were far from strong and with war expenditure and financial assistance to Low Countries and France after 1585.

Foreign affairs

Issues of succession 
· The succession was the most contentious issue of the reign. It caused a lot of friction in domestic affairs and was an intractable problem because Elizabeth did not wish to marry and because her heir until 1587 was a Catholic.

Elizabeth and marriage

· Elizabeth consistently refused to marry. Feared loss of power if she married an Englishman plus this might 'unbalance' Privy Council, creating a husband who was therefore a 'favourite'. 

· Fond of Leicester but this excited jealousy of other counsellors plus any idea of marriage scuppered by sudden and mysterious death of his wife, Amy Robsart.

· Feared to marry abroad. Did 'woo' French Duke of Anjou in 1578 but not seriously. Would not marry a Catholic and would not marry a man she had not met. 

· Ultimately used decision not to marry to create powerful political symbol of the Virgin Queen, married only to her people.

· Most of the Privy Council, aristocracy and MPs wanted her to marry but failed in this endeavour.

· Elizabeth sent famous 'answer answerless' when petitioned by Parliament to marry and/or to name a successor - claimed such questions were a breach of her prerogative.

· Problem seemed very serious after 1562 when Elizabeth nearly died of smallpox. Heir was Mary, Queen of Scots whose accession would mean overthrow of Protestant Church as had happened in 1553.

· Plans drawn up for a regency council to rule if Elizabeth died and to provide for a suitable successor BUT seemed no alternative to Mary, especially after 1568 when she is on English soil.

· Some leading men favoured marriage between Mary and Norfolk to provide Protestant heir (Norfolk was nominally a Protestant). Plan wrecked with Norfolk's execution and plots to forcibly put Mary on throne.

· Key problem over the succession was that Mary, Queen of Scots was heir BUT not acceptable because of her Catholicism and fact that she was Scots/French and that, wittingly or not, was at the centre of Catholic plots to overthrow Elizabeth and bring back the old faith.
· Northern Earls 1569, Ridolfi Plot 1571, Throckmorton Plot 1584 and Babington 1586 all made this point. Mary could not be heir if she was a traitor.

· After execution of Mary in 1587, situation calmer as her Protestant son James VI was then heir apparent. Much more acceptable than his mother. 

· Because she lived a long time, Elizabeth managed to provide a Protestant succession.

Foreign Relations 

· Religious difficulties and problems during Elizabeth’s reign were intensified by the foreign situation and the interference of foreign powers. 

· Foreign powers did much to underpin the Catholic threat.

Relations with Scotland

· When Elizabeth came to the throne, Scotland was officially Catholic and in 1559, Mary Queen of Scots was Queen of France thus strengthening the ‘auld alliance’ between Scotland and France, which had so often threatened England’s security.

· Situation in Scotland effectively reversed by onset of Scottish Reformation under John Knox and the removal of French influence from Scotland. 

· By Treaty of Berwick (Feb.1560) English gave military assistance to Scots rebels. Scots government put in hands of a Council of Scots nobles led by Earl of Arran. 

· By Treaty of Edinburgh (July 1560) French agree to withdraw troops from Scotland and recognize Elizabeth as Queen of England. Mary of Guise (Mary Queen of Scots French mother who had been regent in Scotland) died in 1560.

· Mary Queen of Scots returned to Scotland in 1561 but has little support. English hopes of marrying Mary to Robert Dudley, Earl of Leicester come to nothing.

· Internal disputes in Scotland led to forcible abdication of Mary Queen of Scots (1567) and her expulsion (1568), after the mysterious death of her second husband, Lord Darnley. 

· Thereafter she was kept in captivity in England for 19 years BUT no significant backing for her claim to English throne from France or Scotland. 

· France was torn apart by Wars of Religion, Scots leadership was Presbyterian, had no sympathy with Catholic Mary and governed in the name of Mary’s infant son James VI who was brought up as a Protestant.

Relations with France

· 1559: Peace of Cateau-Cambresis ends war between England and France, which had broken out in 1557. England has to acknowledge the loss of Calais to France.

· 1562-3, English forces occupy French port of Le Havre, supposedly aiding the French Protestants (Huguenots) under Condé in their war against Catholic forces. 

· English then forced to surrender Le Havre because of outbreak of plague. Hopes of gaining a French port to replace Calais, or as a bargaining chip for the return of Calais dashed.

· 1564: Treaty of Troyes between France and England ends war with France.

· 1570: Elizabeth puts forward idea of her marriage with Henry, Duke of Anjou, brother of Charles IX. 

· This averts French hostility especially as France is still engaged in civil war and much more worried about growing power of Spain, than about Protestantism of England.

Mary, Queen of Scots

· Mary was born in December 1542 in Linlithgow Palace, the only child of James V of Scotland and his French wife, Mary of Guise. 

· At just five years of age Mary was betrothed to Henry VIII's son, Edward. 

· Her Catholic guardians were opposed to the match and took the young Mary to Stirling Castle.

· The Scots betrothed the young queen to Francis, the four-year-old heir to the French crown, and sent Mary to be raised at the court of Henry II. 

· Francis became king in 1559, but died in 1560. A widow, Mary returned to Scotland, a Catholic in a country that was officially Protestant.

· In 1565, Mary married her cousin the Earl of Darnley. Their relationship quickly broke down. She became attracted to the Earl of Bothwell

· In March 1566 Darnley and a group of Protestant nobles murdered Mary's Italian secretary, David Rizzio. 

· They claimed Rizzio was having an affair with Mary and was using this as leverage to gain influence in court. 

· Darnley and the nobles burst in upon the heavily-pregnant Mary as she was having supper with Rizzio and five close friends, including Bothwell. 

· The group dragged Rizzio from the table into the next room and stabbed him 56 times.

· In February 1567, there was an explosion at the house where Darnley was staying just outside of Edinburgh. His body was found outside.

· Mary married the Earl of Bothwell, a chief suspect in Darnley's murder, three months afterwards.

· This turned the Scottish nobility against her. Bothwell was exiled and Mary forced to abdicate in July 1567. 

· She was imprisoned in Lochleven Castle, Kinross-shire and her infant son James was made king.

· Her army was defeated at the Battle of Langside near Glasgow, Mary fled to England to seek refuge from her cousin, Elizabeth I.

· Mary had hoped Queen Elizabeth would support her cause but her arrival in England put her cousin in a difficult position. 

· The Catholic Mary had a strong claim to the English throne; she was a great grand-daughter of Henry VIII. Elizabeth had her imprisoned and kept under surveillance.

· Mary became the focus of numerous Catholic plots to assassinate Elizabeth and put her on the English throne. 

· Mary was not directly involved in these plots so Elizabeth was reluctant to act against her.

· In 1586, Mary corresponded with Anthony Babington who was plotting to depose Elizabeth. 

· The letters were intercepted by Elizabeth's spymaster Francis Walsingham. 

· He had the evidence to convince Elizabeth that, while she lived, Mary would always be a danger. Mary was tried for treason and condemned to death in October 1586.

· Elizabeth dithered over signing the death warrant, but eventually did and Mary was executed at Fotheringhay Castle, on 8 February 1587 at the age of 44.

· The execution was one reason for the Spanish Armada in 1588.

Relations with Spain

· At first relations with Spain were quite cordial.

· Philip II of Spain had been married to Mary I and was keen to retain English alliance. 

· In 1558 Spain was still at war with France. Spain increasingly worried about French intervention in the Low Countries, which were owned by Spain but border France.

· Philip II offered to marry Elizabeth; politely declined.

· English concerned much more with French/Scottish threat than with Spain in early years of the reign.

· Relations between England and Spain deteriorated to the point of open warfare by 1585. Worsening relations can be attributed more to Elizabeth’s paranoia rather than Spanish aggression.

· 1563-4 trade war between England and the Low Countries sparked off by increased taxes on trade between the two countries imposed by Queen Mary. 

· Trade war ended in 1564 when Philip sacks Spanish governor in the Low Countries, Cardinal Granvelle.

· 1567 English worried as Duke of Alva was sent to Low Countries to put down revolt there. Has an army of 50,000 men just across the English Channel.

· 1568 conflict between Spain and England in the Caribbean. Spanish fleet destroyed a number of English ships at San Juan de Ullua.

· 1568 Elizabeth took charge of Spanish silver fleet, which was forced to take shelter in Plymouth harbour while en route to pay Spanish troops in the Low Countries. 

· Spanish troops mutiny for lack of pay. Alva retaliated by seizing English ships in Low Countries’ ports. New trade war until Treaty of Bristol in 1574.

· 1571 Spanish ambassador de Spes involved in Ridolfi plot but Alva refused to give the plot military assistance from the Low Countries.

War with Spain

· War between Spain and England effectively started in 1585 and lasted until 1604. 

· Earlier points of conflict could have been resolved without serious recourse to arms but in 1585 English army invaded the Low Countries to assist the Dutch rebels against their sovereign Philip II. This was highly provocative.

· Leicester’s expedition of about 8,000 troops sent to help Dutch rebels in 1585. English very worried that Philip will defeat the rebels and might launch an invasion of England.

· 1584 William the Silent, Dutch rebel leader assassinated and Duke of Anjou, French prince who was aiding the rebels also died soon after leaving the Low Countries. Rebels look weak.

· 1585 Spanish forces under the victorious Duke of Parma retake the vital city of Antwerp and seem to be on the brink of final victory.

· English army does nothing to help rebels directly but persuaded Philip that he should launch an invasion of England. Leicester sent back to Low Countries in 1587 – even less achieved.

War with Spain

· War between Spain and England effectively started in 1585 and lasted until 1604. 

· Earlier points of conflict could have been resolved without serious recourse to arms but in 1585 English army invaded the Low Countries to assist the Dutch rebels against their sovereign Philip II. This was highly provocative.

· Leicester’s expedition of about 8,000 troops sent to help Dutch rebels in 1585. English very worried that Philip will defeat the rebels and might launch an invasion of England.

· 1584 William the Silent, Dutch rebel leader assassinated and Duke of Anjou, French prince who was aiding the rebels also died soon after leaving the Low Countries. Rebels look weak.

· 1585 Spanish forces under the victorious Duke of Parma retake the vital city of Antwerp and seem to be on the brink of final victory.

· English army does nothing to help rebels directly but persuaded Philip that he should launch an invasion of England. Leicester sent back to Low Countries in 1587 – even less achieved.

Why were the English authorities very worried? 

· English Catholics might rise to help a Spanish invasion.

· Prolonged warfare would be too expensive for England.

· English navy powerful but might not be a match for new Spanish Armada.

· 1586 Drake raided Spanish outposts in the Caribbean. San Domingo captured and sacked.

· 1587 Drake raided Spanish port of Cadiz.

· 1588 Armada sailed against England. Plan was to link up with Parma in the Low Countries and help to transport thousands of Spanish troops to England. 

· Attempted invasion failed, partly because of English navy but mainly because Philip’s plan to link his land and sea forces was fatally flawed. 

· In addition Philip was over optimistic that thousands of English Catholics would rise against Elizabeth’s regime.

Elizabeth’s management of financial, economic and social affairs

Problems of finance

· English monarchy still under-funded. Increasingly expensive government had to be funded from monarch's income.

· Dissolution of monasteries and chantries and other plundering of the Church during Reformation did not strengthen royal finances in long term. 

· Land and goods had been sold to meet expenditure on war and defences.

· Crown ran up serious debts in last years of Henry VIII's reign and under Edward VI. Mary also went to war with France.

· Parliamentary grants (subsidies) were available but only for warfare/defence and Parliament could argue.

· Stock of crown lands decreasing in size and income falling.

· Crown's financial situation undermined by inflation, made worse by debasements of the coinage.

· Taxes on trade were most dynamic part of royal income but trade (especially cloth trade) less buoyant under Elizabeth and subject to trade cycles.

· Some useful financial reforms under Mary (Paulet) meant more tax from trade and greater efficiency/less corruption plus no more debasements of coinage. 

· Annual income about £200,000 in peace time.

Sources of Crown income remained the same as in previous reigns.

· Crown lands. Revenue from these was down as Crown lands were being sold off. Opportunity to increase stock of Crown land substantially via dissolution of monasteries missed. 

· Evidence that Crown received much less than ‘market rent’ for the lands it did hold because of corruption, fixed rents.

· Taxes on trade (imports and exports) were most elastic part of income but subject to fluctuations according to trade cycles and state of wider economy. 

· Exports of cloth tend to peak in 1550s but then decline for much of reign. 

· Trade with Low Countries especially Antwerp often interrupted by disputes between Spain and England plus decline of Antwerp after its sack during Dutch Revolt.

· Raising money/loans on Antwerp money market (Gresham important here) disrupted. Forced loans and benevolences brought back to shore up royal finances. 

· Loans also taken from merchant companies but interest rates getting higher.

· Money from Church: Elizabeth used Church as source of patronage and kept bishoprics empty in order to collect income from sees.

· Fines from law courts. Increase in recusancy fines from 1570s.

· Court of Wards administered Crown's feudal rights including wardship. Income increases during reign but nothing like levels achieved by next two monarchs.

· Parliamentary subsidies: All parliaments called to grant money. Crown received perhaps £2 million from the 6 'war parliaments' 1585-1601.

· Monopolies/patents increasingly granted by Crown to courtiers and merchants. Increasingly contentious in parliament in last decade of reign. Seen as causing high prices/inflation at time of economic crisis in 1590s.

· Plunder from Spanish Empire. Drake, Hawkins and Ralegh made fortunes and Queen got her cut.

· BUT this came at heavy price as helped lead to sustained war against Spain and expeditions to seize treasure were expensive.

· Overall, income was probably c. £200,000 pa in peace time and possibly £300,000 in time of war. This was not enough to keep up with soaring expenditure and age of rising prices.

· England at war or subsidising Spain's enemies from 1585 to end of reign.

· War in Low Countries after 1585 cost perhaps £2 million.

· Cecil claimed fighting in Ireland 1588-99 may have cost £4.3 million. Putting down Tyrone Rebellion in Ireland (1596-1601) cost further £2 million.

· Expeditions against Spain to Cadiz and Azores (1596/7) cost £200,000.

· Expedition to Brittany cost £300,000.

· Continual complaints that English arms not doing well in various theatres of war because they were under funded. Cost of warfare escalating in this period.

· Throughout reign, Crown was in financial difficulties and left legacy of royal debt to James I.

· Elizabeth/Cecil surely missed chance to make structural changes to royal income to alleviate problem. 

· At same time no serious reviews of income or expenditure or attempts at retrenchment. These are seen in earlier and later reigns but not under Elizabeth.

· Never prepared to grasp the nettle because it was politically problematic BUT long period of warfare perhaps gave them useful bargaining tool.

· At same time, Elizabeth unlike Philip III never went bankrupt and royal debts at end of reign no more than 1 or 2 years income.

Conclusions

· Elizabeth and her regime remained impoverished for much of reign. 

· Finances had a hand-to-mouth quality as regime looked for quick fix rather than long-term structural improvements.

· Elizabeth gained reputation for parsimony and for staying with courtiers outside London at their expense.

· Progresses were a way of avoiding expenditure as well as exercises in royal power. 

· Houses were visited on average every seven years; the time it took for an estate to recover after a visit from Elizabeth and her court.

· Queen had to go cap in hand to Parliament and never got as much as she hoped for.

· Elizabeth failed to exploit popularity of War against Spain to introduce higher/new taxes. Many sailors resisting the Armada in 1588 not paid!

· Legacy of financial problems for Stuart monarchs.

· BUT this should not be exaggerated in terms of scale. Crown was NOT on verge of bankruptcy in 1603 and expensive wars were about to come to an end.

· Philip II of Spain was bankrupt four times during his reign by comparison.

Society
Change and continuity
· At the top of society were the nobility. In 1500, there were 28 peers of the realm, but by 1558 the number had increased to 55.

· Most of these were very wealthy and owned large landed estates. In the second half of the century, estates were consolidated.

· The nobility ‘governed’ England and all major posts in government, the army and the navy were held by nobles.

· In cities and among the nobility rapidly increasing wealth had fostered a taste for luxuries. 

· Dwellings, furniture, and dress, felt its influence. Elegant and substantial houses were built. 

· Furniture was elaborately carved and inlaid; glass mirrors had been introduced from France early in the reign of Elizabeth.

· Carpets from Turkey, which English weavers soon imitated, took the place on floors of rushes and mats on which royalty had before trodden. 

· Below the nobility were the gentry. Knights, baronets and esquires; they were classed as ‘gentlemen’. They did not work, but were well off. 

· The big divide in society came between gentlemen and the rest. Below them were yeomen, farmers who owned their own land. 

· Yeomen were comfortably off but they often worked alongside their men. Some could become landless if times were hard.

· Below them came the mass of the population, craftsmen, tenant farmers and labourers.

· At the end of the seventeenth century, it was estimated that half the population could afford to eat meat every day. 

· According to one writer at the end of the century, about 50% of the people were wealthy or at least reasonably well off. 

· Below them about 30% of the population could afford to eat meat between 2 and 6 times a week. 

· They were 'poor'. The bottom 20% could only eat meat once a week. They were very poor; at least part of the time they had to rely on poor relief.

Social mobility
· There were many examples of individual social mobility, but there were no changes in the basic structure of society.

· Society became increasingly polarised between the ‘respectable classes’ and the rest.

· The main change was in the development of a ‘respectable’ middle class; this was largely brought about by the growth of commerce.

Merchants

· During the sixteenth century the status of merchants improved. People saw that trade was an increasingly important part of the country's wealth so merchants became more respected. 

· London merchants could be worth £50,000 - £100,000. Sir John Spencer was probably the richest man in the country with £300,000.

Population

· The population of England increased from about 2,500,000 to about 4,000,000 during the sixteenth century.

· The population was far more mobile than at any time in the past. Young men and women left their villages for agricultural work or domestic service.

· A major reason for the change was the Dissolution of the Monasteries. This removed an important source of local relief.

· Dissolution increased the numbers of vagrants, as did the final breakdown of feudal control.

· The numbers of vagrants rose steadily during the century and led to the passing of several Poor Laws. 

· These were attempts to prevent people moving around the country by making relief available in parishes.

· A second factor was the extension of enclosure, particularly in the North of England.

· Many areas had been enclosed before 1500, but there was an increase during the century.

· Sheep farming was more profitable than arable and involved less work. It supplied the cloth trade

· There were many complaints in the first half of the century about the enclosing of fields for pasture.

· Thomas More criticised the process in ‘Utopia’ and Wolsey took some action to prevent excesses and abuse.

· The worst affected areas were the Midlands, but the South and East were also enclosed

· Enclosure improved productivity, but despite that, agricultural price began to rise, at times quite steeply.

· There were two periods of very bad harvests, in the 1550s and 1590s.

· As rural areas were depopulated, towns grew. London grew from about 50,000 in 1500 to 200,000 in 1600. York, Exeter and Norwich all grew to about 20,000.

· The growth was largely brought about by immigration. The percentage of people living in towns rose by about 50% during the sixteenth century.

· London dominated the country as a magnet for trade. In the middle of the century, 90% of trade went through London.

· Goods from Berwick and Cornwall were regularly shipped to London markets.

· England had no internal trade barriers, unlike most continental countries, and therefore a national market for goods emerged.

· Trade and the development of towns and cities produced a growing middle class. This was recognised in the increased numbers of MPs during the century. The House of Commons increased in size by 50%

· Trade required bankers, lawyers and other professions; the nobility and gentry did not work and therefore this became an emerging middle class
Social discontent and rebellions

The Rising of the Northern Earls 1569

· Internal disputes in Scotland led to forcible abdication of Mary Queen of Scots (1567) and her expulsion (1568), after the mysterious death of her second husband, Lord Darnley. 

· Thereafter she was kept in captivity in England for 19 years BUT no significant backing for her claim to English throne from France or Scotland. 

· 1569 Rising of the Northern Earls, attempted to replace Elizabeth with Mary and marry her to the Catholic Duke of Norfolk. Norfolk’s nerve failed him and rising disintegrated as it failed to liberate Mary.

· The North was the most staunchly Catholic area of Britain.

· In 1569 the Catholic Earls of Northumberland and Westmorland began to recruit an army.

· Norfolk would raise East Anglia and join the other rebels. Philip of Spain offered military help.

Why did the Rising fail?

· Cecil and Elizabeth knew the details of the Rising almost from the first days. Elizabeth did not panic and took firm actions.

· Norfolk received very little support in East Anglia. He was summoned to Windsor and arrested on his way. The Earls only raised about 2,500 men.

· Mary was moved south to Coventry, where she could not be reached by the rebels.

· The rebels realised that they had no chance of success and found themselves faced by a royal army of 28,000 men.

· About 700 rebels were hanged and 200 gentry had their lands seized and given to loyal supporters of the Queen.

· The most serious aspect of the rising was the readiness of Philip II to support the rebels.

Economic development
The state and the poor

· Enclosure of farm land for pasture forced people off the land in the North of England. The wool trade became much more important and pasturage was valuable.

· The dissolution of the Monasteries meant that the poor could no longer receive help from the Church.

· In the 1580s and 1590s, the population rose, but at the same time poor harvests meant that prices inflated.

· A series of Poor Laws was passed to tackle the problem.

· The poor at the beginning of Elizabeth’s reign could be punished if they attempted to beg.

· Beggars could be flogged through the streets or put in the stocks or pillory.

· Beggars were treated in this way because they were vagrants and therefore had no fixed abode. This meant that they were not part of traditional landed society.

· In the countryside, people were part of a hierarchical society which was controlled by the gentry and aristocracy; people knew their place.

· Beggars were not part of that society and had no ‘place’, therefore they were not trusted.

1552 Poor Law Act


· This officially recorded the number of poor in each Parish Register, along with the details of Births, Deaths and Marriages. 

· Parliament suggested that every Parish should appoint two collectors of alms to assist the churchwardens after service on Sunday to “gently ask and demand of every man or woman what they, of their charity, will be contented to give weekly towards the relief of the poor”. 

· The Alms collectors distributed the money to the registered poor of the parish. The Parish Registers provided the information required by the Elizabethan government to assess the extent of the problem. 

· The Elizabethan Poor Law aimed to encourage vagrants to stay in one place where they would be looked after and where they would be known.

· It was as much about social control was it was about helping the poor.

Why did the numbers of poor and beggars increase during the reign of Elizabeth?

· Enclosure of farm land for pasture forced people off the land in the North of England. The wool trade became much more important and pasturage was valuable.

· The dissolution of the Monasteries meant that the poor could no longer receive help from the Church.

· In the 1580s and 1590s, the population rose, but at the same time poor harvests meant that prices inflated.

· A series of Poor Laws was passed to tackle the problem.

1563 Act

· The threat to civil disorder led to an Act of the Elizabethan Poor Law to be passed through Parliament in 1563. 

· The different types of poor people were categorised in order to determine the treatment that they might receive as follows:

· The Deserving Poor - the old the young and the sick who should receive help

· The 'Deserving Unemployed' - those willing and able to work but unable to find employment 

· The 'Undeserving Poor' - those who turned to a life of crime or became beggars

The Poor Beggars

· The unfortunate poor who turned to begging were viewed and treated as criminals. 

· The punishment of the 'poor beggars' was that they would be beaten until they reached the stones that marked the town parish boundary. 

· The beatings given as punishment were bloody and merciless and those who were caught continually begging could be sent to prison and even hanged as their punishment. 

1572 Act

· In 1572, the first compulsory poor law tax was imposed at a local level making the alleviation of poverty a local responsibility. 

· Each Parish was responsible to provide for its own aged, sick and poor. 

· The Justice of the Peace for each parish was allowed to collect a tax from those who owned land in the parish. This was called the Poor Rate. 

· The Law stated that charity for the relief of the poor should be collected weekly by assigned collectors. 

· The money was used to help the 'Deserving Poor' - anyone refusing to pay was imprisoned. 

1576 Act

· In 1576, each town was required to provide work for the unemployed, in effect, the first English Workhouse, or Poorhouse (without accommodation) and Houses of Correction for Vagrants and Beggars. 

· Raw materials, such as wool, were provided and the poor supplied the labour. Punishment of the Mother and reputed Father of a Bastard was also established. 

1597 Act

· The poor harvest of the 1590's placed an even bigger burden on the economy. The Justices of the Peace were given more authority to raise additional compulsory funds. 

· A new position of 'Overseer of the Poor' was created. The role of the Overseer of the Poor was to:
· Calculate the amount of 'Poor Rate' required for the Parish
· Collect the poor rate from property owners
· Dispensing either money, clothes or food
· Supervise the Parish Poor House

How did the Elizabethan Poor Law of 1601 treat the poor?
· The sick, old, infirm and mentally ill (called the impotent poor) were looked after in poor houses or almshouses. 

· Pauper children were apprenticed to a trade. 

· Able-bodied poor (often called idle vagabonds) who needed relief were set to work in a workhouse while they continued to live at home. 

· Beggars and vagrants who refused to work were sent to a ‘house of correction’. 

· Each parish was responsible for looking after its own poor. Local magistrates appointed local overseers who levied a poor rate and used it to pay for relief of the parish poor.

· Because each parish was responsible for its own poor, settlement became very important. 

· Any person claiming relief had to be returned to the parish of their birth, or, if this wasn’t known, to the parish where they had last lived for more than a year without getting in to trouble.

Patterns of domestic and foreign trade

· Economy remained essentially agrarian - few innovations here. 

· Still potential for food shortages especially bad harvests of 1593-6, worst run of bad harvests in the century. Led to outbreaks of plague and other diseases.

· Increasing population was a good sign but second half of century also period of sustained inflation and higher prices.

· Calais was lost in 1558 and attempts to gain new 'permanent' foothold on Continent fail. Merchants forced to look elsewhere. 

· Some merchants had temporary success at Baltic German ports of Hamburg and Emden.

· Cloth trade (main export) was still strong, especially out of London to Antwerp but overall volume dropped from the peak in 1550s.

· Antwerp as great financial centre and entrepot was undermined by war in Low Countries plus there were occasional trade embargoes as relations between Spain and England worsened.

· Cloth trade and manufacture was given boost by immigration of religious refugees from the Continent. 

· This led to the development of New Draperies (worsted cloth) as leading the sector in the industry.

· Trading companies such as Merchants Adventurers doing well. Eastland Company had monopoly of Baltic Trade. 

· Russia Company founded 1555. Levant Company founded 1581. East India Company began trading in Indian Ocean in 1581.

· These companies were given monopolies over the trade in their area. Only the East India Company (1600) made a real contribution to trade.

· Colonies in America. Virginia founded in New World but patchy beginnings and tobacco and economic success not until James' reign

· Granting of monopolies helped to stimulate trade. Earl of Cumberland had monopoly on export of undyed cloth. At other times monopolies may have undermined trade and put up prices.

New draperies

· Economic hardship and war forced many people to leave the Low Countries. Between 50,000 and 300,000 refugees sought religious freedom elsewhere.

· Many came to Protestant England, settling in towns such as London and Southampton, as well as Norwich. 

· The main exodus was in the late sixteenth century, but the effects were felt throughout the seventeenth century.

· The ‘strangers’ brought with them ‘new draperies’, which were worsteds made from long staple wool, as opposed to broadcloths.

· These were lighter, more varied and cheaper. They became an important element in the growing English export trade. By the second half of the century, they accounted for 50% of exports of textiles.

Monopolies

· Monopolies or patents were useful part of royal prerogative and increasingly used as inexpensive form of patronage for courtiers. 

· Monopolies however often put up prices and in economically difficult 1590s, they became very unpopular.

· By 1597, Commons question validity of these grants and matters came to serious head in 1601. As monopolies sometimes allowed those given them to ignore statues on economic matters, 

· Commons were attempting to limit royal prerogative. Implication that prerogative should not over-ride parliamentary statutes.

· In 1601, Elizabeth forced to give way and make concessions in public, which appeared to be a victory for Commons. In fact she carried on granting them but under another name.

Religious developments

Continuity and change

Religious developments: consolidation of the settlement

Consolidation of the Settlement

· Further written works

· Bishops drew up Eleven Articles of Religion in 1561 as precursor to 39 Articles.

· 1562 Archbishop Parker’s Book of Homilies published. It justified the existence of the Church of England. 

· 1562 Jewel’s Apology was largely a stinging attack on the Roman Church and a justification of the Protestant Church in general as the one most like the church instituted by Christ’s Apostles. 
· However, it did not show that the structure and practice of the Anglican Church was superior to that of the Roman Church.
· 1566 Book of Advertisements issued to clergy by Archbishop Parker. These articles explained more clearly and fully matters of doctrine and practice and were designed to curb more radical Protestant clergy and make them conform to the Settlement.

Enforcement

· All the Marian bishops except one resigned rather than conform to the new settlement. This allowed Elizabeth to bring in a new bench of Protestant Bishops led by Matthew Parker who was appointed to Canterbury, Jewel to Salisbury, Grindal to London and Cox to Ely.

· Parker worked hard to fill the many vacancies amongst parish clergy. This created a more Protestant clergy at this level.

· Many priests from Mary’s reign conformed to the Settlement (only some 200 were officially deprived) and so a majority of the parish clergy were conservative in their views.

· Elizabeth’s regime did not attempt to enforce the Settlement too rigidly. Elizabeth would not ‘make windows into men’s souls’.

Success of the Settlement

The Settlement was broadly successful because:

· It allowed quite a lot of latitude in religious belief and practice. Moderate Catholics and moderate Protestants found it acceptable.

· It was not enforced too rigidly. In the early years of the reign there was very little persecution. Penalty for refusing the oath to the Act of Supremacy a second time was death. Elizabeth told Parker not to offer it a second time!

· Protestantism had become quite well established in the reigns of Henry VIII and Edward VI, particularly amongst landowners in the South and South-East of England.

· The Reformations up to this time – both Catholic (under Mary) and Protestant (under Henry VIII and Edward VI) – had shown that most people accepted religious changes. 

· There were no wars of religion and very little overt opposition. While few may have been enthusiastic supporters of the new Church at the outset, the vast majority acquiesced in its establishment.

· Rebellions based on opposition to religious change – the Pilgrimage of Grace in 1536, the Western Rebellion in 1549 and Wyatt’s Rebellion of 1554 – had all been crushed.

· The new Settlement, like the previous ones, was established by the authority of the monarch. Loyalty to the Crown was largely unquestioned. 

· The involvement of Parliament in the Settlement increased the sense of legitimacy. It was the law of the land and Parliament could be seen to represent the political nation.

· Elizabeth and her advisers were anxious that there should be no further changes to the Settlement. 

· The individual and thus English identity of the Church of England thus became established during Elizabeth’s long reign. 

· It would not be part of a wider European Protestant Church, as some had hoped for under Edward VI. 

· By Elizabeth’s reign it was clear that Protestantism would remain divided into different sects and groups, with little sense of uniformity.

· Archbishop Parker was essentially a quiet scholar and a moderate Protestant. He stayed in England during Mary’s reign rather than going abroad. 

· He was primate for a long period (1559-75) and did more to curb the puritans than to persecute Catholics. He was also an erastian Archbishop (loyal to the Queen) who conformed to the royal will.

· Threat from Catholic powers was muted in the period up to 1570. So the Church of England had a decade or more to become established.

· Peace made with France in 1559 meant there was no immediate threat from that quarter. Thereafter France would experience a series of debilitating Wars of Religion, which would minimize the threat in the future.

· Philip II of Spain was keen to be on good terms with Elizabeth because he wished to retain an English alliance against France.

· Papacy, worried about power of Spain, was slow to condemn Protestant Elizabeth. Elizabeth not excommunicated until 1570 and when she was, Philip II disapproved.

The Puritan Challenge to the Church Settlement

· Puritanism was not a coherent movement but a voice of protest. There was no common core of Puritan beliefs; instead Puritanism embraced a wide spectrum of beliefs and ideas.

· Most Puritans were fiercely opposed to the Roman Catholic Church and all its works. 

· They believed that the Pope was in fact the Anti-Christ and so all Catholics were heretics and traitors. 

· They therefore wanted to see the Church take a tougher line on Catholics with stiffer penalties imposed on those who failed to attend church and/or conducted Catholic services in their private chapels.

· Puritans wished to see the Church of England completely cleansed of its ‘popish remnants’. 

· The issue of the wearing of clerical vestments, for example, would be a serious area of conflict between the Puritans and Archbishop Parker. 

· Many wished to see a new Prayer Book, which would have a less ambiguous interpretation of the doctrine of the mass.

· Many puritans wished to see the bishops wielding less power, while pastors and congregations should have more power. 

· A number believed that episcopacy (government of the Church by bishops) as a whole should be abolished since it was the system of Church government used by the Catholic Church. 

· In its place they wanted a Presbyterian form of Church government as advocated by John Calvin in Geneva.

· Most puritans wanted to improve the quality and condition of the lower clergy.

· Lower clergy needed to be better educated; they needed to be better paid to put an end to abuses such as absenteeism and pluralism.

· Most wanted to see more emphasis on ‘preaching the word’ and a relaxation on the licensing of preachers.

How did the Puritans attempt to change the Settlement

Vestiarian Controversy

· Puritan ministers refused to conform to dress code of Settlement. Parker issued his 1565 Book of Advertisements. Summoned London clergy to Lambeth Palace and demanded that clergy conform fully or face suspension. Several deprived but vast majority conform.

· In the 1566 Parliament, 6 religious bills suggesting puritan reforms introduced but not considered.

· In the 1571 Parliament, there was an attempt to reintroduce 6 bills of 1566.Walter Strickland introduces Bill in House of Commons for reform of Prayer Book esp. to abolish kneeling at Communion and wearing of surplices. Also wanted to reform church courts.

Government response to Puritans

· All attempts to reform Prayer Book dismissed by Elizabeth. In 1572, she announced that no new religious bills to be introduced without approval of the bishops.

· Archbishop Grindal permanently suspended when he appeared sympathetic to the Puritans.

· Archbishop Whitgift (1583-1604) tough on Puritans. He introduced Three (Lambeth) Articles. 

· All clergy to swear an oath for – strict observance of the Prayer Book and full acceptance of Royal Supremacy, Prayer Book and 39 Articles. 

· However had to moderate his demands after opposition from some Privy Counsellors and the realization that several hundred clergy might be deprived.

· 1584 brought in 24 questions, which could be put to Puritan activists to incriminate them.

· 1587 Cope and 4 others imprisoned for attempting to bring in Genevan Prayer Book

The Catholic Challenge

· Catholic threat was in some ways more serious than Puritan threat. 

· Although most English Catholics were moderates who hoped for a Catholic Restoration in time, more extreme Catholics plotted to replace Elizabeth with Mary Queen of Scots.

Strength of Catholicism in 1559

· Queen Mary had successfully restored Catholic Church during her five-year reign. No signs that Catholic Church was seriously opposed or under threat by the time of her death in 1558.

· English Church under Henry VIII had retained Catholic theology and liturgy. Edwardian Reformation (1547-53) had been too short-lived to bring in Protestant doctrine.

· Many of the gentry and perhaps half the nobility at first continued as Catholics after the passing of the Elizabethan Settlement. Even by the late 1580s one third of the peerage was Catholic.

· All of Mary’s Catholic bishops except one resigned rather than subscribe to the new Settlement.

· Many of the lower clergy were still Catholic or at least conservative and unenthusiastic about the Settlement.

· While South and East of England were more susceptible to Protestant advances, North and West were more Catholic. 

· North had seen great opposition to Henrician Reformation in 1536 (Pilgrimage of Grace) while Devon and Cornwall had witnessed rebellion against moderate English Prayer Book in 1549. 

· Catholicism was still strong in more agrarian, rural areas of the country. In Lancashire there were probably more Catholics than Protestants in the first years of the reign.

· More zealous Catholics believed that Mary Queen of Scots was the real Queen of England, since Elizabeth was a bastard, whose mother (Anne Boleyn) had been executed by Henry VIII.

· Elizabeth never married and so her heir until 1587 was Mary Queen of Scots.

Threat from radical Catholics

· 1568 William Allen, leading English Catholic and cardinal, founded English College at Douai in the Low Countries. 

· Designed as centre for English Catholic refugees and seminary for training new Catholic Clergy. Sent some 450 Catholic priests to England from 1574 onwards to prop up Catholic Faith.

· Penalties against Catholics stiffened up, to cope with Catholic threat. 1571 Act made it high treason to declare that Elizabeth was a heretic. 

· Also high treason to bring papal bulls into England. Catholics who had fled abroad could be deprived of goods and income from lands.

 The Catholic Challenge 1571-88

· Catholic gentry and nobles allowed unofficially to have Catholic services in their private chapels.

· Catholic landowners often unreceptive to Jesuit missionaries who were sent to England after 1580. They saw them as un-English. 

· Most Catholic landowners were loyal to the Elizabethan regime and did not want to attract attention by entertaining catholic missionaries. 

· Thus there was a split between the quietist, seigneurial Catholicism and the zeal and fervour of the missionary priests and Jesuits.

· Most Catholic plots to overthrow Elizabeth involved foreign powers usually Spain or at least, Spanish agents. Most influential Catholics saw support for these plots as unpatriotic.

· Similarly the zealous Catholic fervour of the missionary priests was inspired by international Catholicism, formulated at the Council of Trent. This was not in line with an English Catholicism, which historically did not have strong links with the Papacy in Rome.

· In 1588, at the time of the Spanish Armada, English Catholics were keen to denounce the Spaniards as invaders.

· Government persecution in 1570s and 80s meant Catholicism at yeoman level largely died out. 

· Catholicism therefore survived mainly amongst larger landowners who were widely scattered geographically.

· The Catholic threat in some ways more serious than puritan threat. Although most English Catholics were moderates who hoped for a Catholic Restoration in time, 

· More extreme Catholics plotted to replace Elizabeth with Mary Queen of Scots.

· After 1585 England faced the prospect of a Spanish invasion to restore Catholicism.

What threat was there from radical Catholics?

· Young men of gentry status had largely organized the plots centring on Mary Queen of Scots.

· 1568, William Allen, leading English Catholic and Cardinal, founded English College at Douai in the Low Countries. 

· Designed as centre for English Catholic refugees and seminary for training new Catholic Clergy. Sent some 450 Catholic priests to England from 1574 onwards to prop up Catholic Faith. 

· Allen also produced in 1584 his True, Sincere and Modest Defense of English Catholics claiming that it was unreasonable to persecute Catholics for their Faith. 

· This was an answer to Lord Burghley’s pamphlet of 1583 defending the persecution of Catholics.

· After 1580 Jesuit missionaries were sent to England, led by Edmund Campion and Robert Parsons. 

· Purpose again was to fortify the faithful rather than to convert Protestant heretics. Some managed to print and circulate Catholic literature.

How did the government respond to the Catholic threat?

· Catholic plots to free Mary and assassinate Elizabeth came to little thanks to Walsingham’s intelligence network and vigilance.

· Jesuits and Catholic missionaries arrested and often executed. Some 100 missionaries executed during the reign. 

· Between 1581 and 1590, 78 priests and 25 laymen executed for supporting Catholic mission. Campion, leading Jesuit missionary executed by hanging drawing and quartering.

How were penalties against Catholics stiffened up?

· 1571 Act made it high treason to declare that Elizabeth was a heretic. Also high treason to bring papal bulls into England. Catholics who had fled abroad could be deprived of goods and income from lands.

· 1581 heavy fines for hearing Mass, £20 fine per month for recusancy (Catholics refusing to attend Church of England), new Treason Act that made it a capital offence to convert or be converted to Catholicism.

· 1584 Act – death penalty for anyone receiving Jesuits or seminarists.

· 1584 Bond of Association drawn up by Protestants in parliament and spread nationwide. Members of the association swore to pursue to the death anyone attempting to harm the Queen.

· Government propaganda such as Burghley’s Execution of Justice in England (1583) explained that Catholicism was tantamount to treason.

· John Foxe’s Book of Martyrs (1563) detailed the persecution of English Protestants by Catholics during Queen Mary’s reign.

HOWEVER some Catholics were still able to evade serious penalties by using their local influence especially in areas like the North where Catholics were still fairly numerous.

The threat from Mary Queen of Scots

· 1571 Ridolfi Plot. This was encouraged by the Spanish Ambassador and the Spanish commander in the Netherlands, the Duke of Alva. The plan again was to assassinate Elizabeth.

· 1583 Throckmorton Plot. Francis Throckmorton was an English Catholic in league with the Spanish ambassador. 

· Again the plan was essentially to liberate Mary from captivity in the North and kill Elizabeth. In 1584, Throckmorton executed and Mendoza, Spanish ambassador expelled.

· 1586 Babington Plot. Similar to the others but this time Walsingham convinced Elizabeth that Mary was directly involved. He trapped her by opening her correspondence. As a result Mary put on trial and executed in Fotheringhay Castle.

· Elizabeth allowed Mary to be executed only after long deliberation. She realised that she was her closest heir and also hesitated to order the execution of another monarch.

The English Renaissance

· During the reign of Edward VII, the number of grammar schools in England is known to have risen. 
· Figures for the founding of grammar schools are incomplete, but in ten counties that have been investigated, 410 new schools were built between 1480 and 1600.
· These schools were called ‘grammar’ because they concentrated on Greek and Latin. They prepared students for the professions and helped to create the growing middle class

· Below the grammars were the ‘petty’ schools, which taught basic literacy and other schools which prepared students for apprenticeships and taught maths and account keeping.

· The overall literacy rate for England at the end of the sixteenth century has been calculated at 30% for men and 10% for women.

· The gentry were almost 100% literate. For tradesmen and yeomen, the figure was about 80%.

· Many new colleges were founded at Oxford and Cambridge during the century, including Wadham, Jesus, Emmanuel and Sidney Sussex. Numbers admitted each year rose from 650 to 770.

· The main function of universities remained the education of the clergy. Maths an science were taught, but they were very much minority subjects.

· The best teaching of maths was found in Gresham College in London, which was not a university. It was founded by Sir Thomas Gresham the economist and financier.

· Numbers admitted at the Inns of Court increased from 160 a year to 230. 

· Approximately 780 students were entering higher education every year at the beginning of the century rising to about 1,050 by the end.

Why did education expand?

· Puritanism emphasised personal development. Puritans believed that it helped dispel ignorance of the scriptures. It allowed Bible study, which was the main element in Puritan doctrine.

· Puritans endowed schools and universities with great generosity.

· The Reformation had broken the hold of the Church on education. There was an increasing demand for administrators in all ranks of the state service.

· Humanists emphasised that a classical education would be fundamental in personal development and would enable employment or social advancement.

· Education was increasingly seen as a way of acquiring status, especially when land became available after the Dissolution of the Monasteries.

· The sought after office of JP required some legal knowledge; it was also an advantage in dealing with increasing litigation as a result of the development of commerce.
The printing press

· Printing and the publication of books became widespread in the first half of the sixteenth century. Mary allowed the publication of the Bible in English.

· Printing allowed education to develop dramatically. Most universities up to the fifteenth century had often only had a single copy of books. This made individual study impossible.

· Printing made religious differences far more possible and far more likely. Puritanism depended on printing for its development.

· Printing helped to undermine the dominant position of the Church and made the publication of royal documents much easier.

· Printing influenced the scientific revolution; the works of Vesalius, Brahe and Galileo became known worldwide.

· Printing encouraged the publication of books in the vernacular; the more copies that could be sold, the more profit would be made. The only way to sell more was to make it possible for them to be read

· Over 10% of the books published in England in the second half of the sixteenth century were on science topics and 90% of them were in English.

· Printing not only facilitated education, but it actually encouraged it.

Cultural change

· Printing was one of the factors that led to the growth of the theatre in the late sixteenth century.

· The weakening influence of religion was also a factor, as was the growth of the very wealthy landed class. The latter acted as noble patrons of groups of players.

· Elizabeth I patronised groups of players and had plays staged for herself and the court in private.

· A final factor was the propaganda value of the theatre at a time when there were virtually no other ways of reaching large numbers of people.

· Shakespeare wrote a series of history plays praising the Tudors and their forebears. They begin with the character of John of Gaunt in Richard II and end with the vilification of Richard III.

· John of Gaunt was the founder of the Lancastrian dynasty. He utters:

This happy breed of men, this little world,
This precious stone set in the silver sea

· The Lancastrians were deposed by the Yorkists, who in turn were overthrown by Henry VII, the grandfather of Elizabeth, in 1485.

· The Earl of Essex, when he was attempting to seize power in February 1601, tried to persuade a group of players to perform Richard II, in which the king if overthrown by the Lancastrian coup.

· In the fifteenth century, the only theatrical events were miracle plays. Henry VIII staged small entertainments, especially for foreign visitors, but there was little else until the reign of Elizabeth.

· By the 1570s, purpose-built playhouses started appearing in London as secular drama began to predominate. 

· In 1576, Britain's first playhouse 'The Theatre' was built by Leicester's Men in Finsbury Fields. This was outside the city walls as the City of London was hostile to public performances.

· Over the next 16 years 17, new theatres were constructed. Most of these theatres were circular, surrounding an open courtyard where members of the audience would stand around the three sides of the thrust stage. 

· The courtyard was surrounded by galleries roofed with a thatched or tiled roof where you could sit if you could afford to pay more.

· These open air theatres were known as public theatres, but there were also indoor theatres such as the Blackfriars which were known as private. 

· These were also public but cost more and attracted a snootier audience to watch. Performances were in daylight, usually starting at 3pm, and were crowded and noisy. 

· Admission prices ranged from a penny to stand in the yard by the stage to up to sixpence for the most expensive seats in the galleries.

Music and poetry

· Both Henry VIII and Elizabeth were interested in music. Henry wrote a number of works and played several instruments.

· Elizabeth was a singer and could play and could play the lyre lute and virginals.

· The Elizabethan age was a golden period for music in England. Thomas Tallis, William Burd and Orlando Gibbons were among the greatest composers of their day. 

· John Dowland, Thomas Morley and John Wilby wrote songs and madrigals to secular as well as religious texts.

· John Skelton wrote crude, boisterous poetry in the early sixteenth century; Wyatt and Howard introduced the sonnet to England and produced courtier poetry.

· In the Elizabethan period, Edmund Spenser’s ‘Faerie Queene’ became very popular. It was in praise of Elizabeth I.

· The Faerie Queene found favour with Elizabeth I and Spenser was granted a pension for life amounting to £50 a year.

· There is no evidence that Elizabeth I read any of the poem. This royal patronage helped the poem along to such a level of success that it became Spenser's defining work.

Gloriana

· After the defeat of the Spanish Armada, the cult of Elizabeth I developed. There were increasing demands for images, most of which were produced form approved portraits.

· She had music dedicated to her by Talls and Byrd and poems in her honour were written by Ben Jonson, Walter Ralegh as well as Edmund Spenser.

· A final tribute came via architecture; it became fashionable for country houses to be built (or in some cases rebuilt) in the form of a capital E. 

· Hatfield House, where Elizabeth was in residence when Mary I died, is one of the best examples.

The last years of Elizabeth
The 1590s: a summary
· The Catholic threat was much less intense. 

· Mary executed 1587, no more attempts to overthrow Elizabeth. Missionary priests persecuted successfully, Jesuits few in number.

· 1590s saw decline in Puritan challenge. No attempts to reform Church via parliament. Puritan leaders imprisoned (Cartwright) or dead (Field). Puritan radicals (Marprelate Tracts/growth of separatists) had given movement a bad name.

· Clergy conformed under Whitgift who used courts of High Commission and Star Chamber to crush Puritan threat.

· Relations between Queen and Parliament/Privy Council more settled. Succession problem solved after execution of Mary. 

· There was trouble over monopolies but skilful use of apparent concessions saw a grateful House of Commons and gave Elizabeth a propaganda triumph with her 'golden speech'.

· Period saw death of Burghley (as late as 1598) but rise of very competent son, Robert Cecil. Other ministers also equal of previous generation. 

The war with Spain

· The failure of the Armada in 1588 did not end the threat from Spain. A second invasion was planned in 1589

· Sir Francis Drake was sent to destroy a second Spanish fleet in 1589 and capture the treasure fleet, but had little success.

· The Spanish fleet was able to refit and build twelve massive galleons named The Twelve Apostles.

· The navy proved to be far more effective than it had been before 1588. A sophisticated convoy system and improved intelligence networks frustrated and broke up the English privateering.

· Throughout the 1590s, enormous convoy escorts enabled the Spanish to ship three times as much silver as in the previous decade.

· In 1590, the Spanish landed a considerable force in Brittany and expelled the English and Huguenot forces from the area. 

· In 1596 an Anglo-Dutch expedition under Essex sacked Cadiz and caused significant loss to the Spanish fleet, leaving the city in ruins and delaying a planned attack on England. 

· Despite its failure to capture the treasure fleet, the sack of Cadiz was celebrated as a national triumph comparable to the victory over the Spanish Armada, and for a time Essex's prestige rivalled Elizabeth's own. 

· In 1596, the Triple Alliance between France, England and the Dutch was signed. 

· Elizabeth sent 2,000 troops to France after the Spanish took Calais. Further battles continued until 1598.

· At the end of 1601, a final armada was sent north, this time a limited expedition intended to land troops in southern Ireland to assist the rebels. 

· The Spanish entered the town of Kinsale with 3,000 troops and were immediately besieged by the English.

· In time, their Irish allies arrived to surround the besieging force but the lack of communication with the rebels led to an English victory at the Battle of Kinsale.

· Rather than attempt to hold Kinsale as a base to harry English shipping, the Spanish accepted terms of surrender and returned home. 

· The new king of England, James I regarded himself as the peacemaker of Europe. His first order of business was to negotiate a peace with Spain.

The extent of faction at court and the succession issue

· The death of many of Elizabeth’s closest councillors, Leicester in 1588, Walsingham in 1590, and Hatton in 1591 opened up a vacuum at the centre of Elizabeth’s government.

· She was very reluctant to fill this with the new generation (hence Robert Cecil’s appointment to the Privy Council only after Hatton’s death, despite pressure from Burghley and his suitability to the role). 

· This led to factionalism, which, at this late stage in her life, Elizabeth was not best equipped to manage. 

· Robert Devereux, Earl of Essex, emerged as the Queen’s dominant royal favourite after the deaths of the Earl of Leicester and Sir Christopher Hatton in 1588 and 1591.

· He advocated an expansive war policy against Spain which was increasingly at odds with the wishes of Elizabeth. 

· Essex’s political ambitions also provoked growing resentment from older members of the Council.

· Lord Burghley, who mistrusted Essex’s martial aspirations, was anxious to promote the career of his own younger son, Sir Robert Cecil. 

· Defeated in his efforts to win over Elizabeth to his agenda, Essex began to circulate letters and treatises in manuscript form which advocated policies markedly different from those endorsed by the Queen.
· Factions at Court were a threat to Elizabeth. However, she had not lost all her old ability, and was still able to neutralise the threat to a certain degree. 

· Essex was arrested and executed after his pathetic attempt to seize power.

· The existence of factions was only one part of a series of crises which, together, amounted to the very serious threat of the 1590s.

The succession issue

· James VI was Elizabeth I of England's closest royal relative. They were direct descendants of Henry VII, the first Tudor king of England. 

· Foreigners were forbidden from inheriting English lands, and the succession statute of 1544 failed to name any heir after Elizabeth and her children (if any). 

· The will of Henry VIII prevented his Scottish relatives from succeeding to the throne. The English crown should have passed to Edward Seymour, Viscount Beauchamp.

· A statute of 1585 insisted that if any claimants plotted against Elizabeth I all of their legal rights were forfeited. 

· Mary, Queen of Scots, was executed in 1587 for her involvement in Catholic assassination plots against Elizabeth. 

· As Mary's son James VI could be excluded from the succession as he would have gained from the death of Elizabeth.

· James VI had a cousin, Lady Arbella Stuart, who was another descendant of Henry VII but English-born and therefore exempt from the 1351 statute forbidding monarchs not born in England. 

· There was also the Infanta Isabella, daughter of Philip II of Spain. In 1588, Philip proclaimed that his daughter's descent from Edward III made her the rightful Catholic queen of England. 

· James VI had the advantage of being an experienced monarch who had gained control over the Kirk and the Scottish nobles.

· In 1586 a treaty was signed between Scotland and England, and parallel negotiations led to James VI being promised an annual subsidy by Elizabeth I. 

· Between 1586 and 1602 James VI received £58,500 sterling. Most of the money did not pass through the hands of government officers and detailed records were not kept.

· The English subsidy contributed to the unequal relationship between James VI and Elizabeth I. 

· So long as he hoped to succeed Elizabeth I on the English throne he had to maintain good relations between the two kingdoms.

· In 1596 James VI's efforts to have himself declared heir apparent to the English throne culminated in the Treaty of Berwick, a formal alliance with England. 

Essex’s rebellion

· Essex returned from Ireland in disgrace. He was deprived of his offices in June 600 and promptly placed under house arrest. 

· Essex wrote several letters of submission to the Queen, and by August 600 he was able to move freely except to return to court. 

· He spent further time sending letters in an attempt to gain permission to do so. 
· In November 1600, Queen Elizabeth refused to renew his monopoly on sweet wine, an action that placed Devereux in even deeper financial ruin. He began to create plans to seize the court by force.

· In February 1601, Essex formed a small group of men dissatisfied with Elizabeth, they planned to kidnap her and seize power.

· The coup was a complete flop and Essex was arrested and tried for treason, He was beheaded on 25 February 1601.
· Essex's rebellion convinced Cecil that the succession must be settled before Elizabeth's death rather than leave the matter open.

· In April 1601 James VI sent two envoys south and Cecil indicated his willingness to co-operate. An exchange of coded letters began, although a secret correspondence with a foreign monarch was an act of treason.

· In March 1603, as Elizabeth weakened, Cecil prepared the proclamation announcing the transfer of the crown to James VI and sent it north for the king's approval. 

· The English ports were closed, and extra watchmen patrolled the London streets. 

· Catholics were kept under surveillance, and Lady Arabella Stuart was held captive at Hardwick Hall in Derbyshire. 

· However, neither the unmarried Arabella nor the childless Isabella enjoyed much support. 

· An Accession Council met and proclaimed James VI, King of Scots, as James I, King of England and Ireland. 

· On 5 April 1603 James VI and his wife, Anna, left Edinburgh promising that they would return in three years, and they were crowned on 25 July 1603 at Westminster Abbey.
How far did the popularity and effectiveness of Elizabeth I's government decline after 1588?

· It has been easy to claim that Elizabethan government became less popular and effective in last 15 years.

· 1588, the year of triumph against Armada seen as high point of war effort against Spain. Later expeditions were unsuccessful.

· Ageing Queen, everyone preparing for new regime and seeing James as hope for the future.

· Death of key ministers - Walsingham, Leicester and Burghley; younger men seem less able and didn't have confidence of ageing Queen.

In fact this view is an over simplification. 1588 was not really a turning point.

· Failure of Armada was exploited in government propaganda - God was a Protestant. Huge boost to morale.

· After Armada, England took war to Spain with expeditions against Cadiz, Azores, Lisbon.

· Catholic threat was much less intense. 

· Mary executed 1587, no more attempts to overthrow Elizabeth. Missionary priests persecuted successfully, Jesuits few in number.

· 1590s saw decline in Puritan challenge. No attempts to reform Church via parliament. Puritan leaders imprisoned (Cartwright) or dead (Field). Puritan radicals (Marprelate Tracts/growth of separatists) had given movement a bad name.

· Clergy conform under Whitgift who used courts of High Commission and Star Chamber to crush Puritan threat.

· Relations between Queen and Parliament/Privy Council more settled. Succession problem solved after execution of Mary. 

· There was trouble over monopolies but skilful use of apparent concessions saw a grateful House of Commons and gave Elizabeth a propaganda triumph with her 'golden speech'.

· Period saw death of Burghley (as late as 1598) but rise of very competent son, Robert Cecil. Other ministers also equal of previous generation. 

· Leicester ultimately had contributed little and his military expedition to Low Countries had been a fiasco.

· Warfare is protracted and limited success BUT England not a powerful military power and warfare always drags on. 

· Warfare may provide a useful safety valve for underemployed young courtiers who want to make a name for themselves.

· Biggest problem of 1590s was economic crisis brought about by natural forces (and Europe- wide) rather than government policies.

· Some feeling that Elizabeth was more stubborn and difficult in last years but she was always like that. 

· Vast majority of courtiers/ministers were content to wait for Scottish succession, though fears about rule of a foreign King.

· Soon after her death, idea of Elizabethan Golden age is born. She had defeated Spain, established the Anglican Church and built the foundations of British Empire. Plus a golden age in the arts - Shakespeare writes 24 of his 37 plays 1590-1603!

Conclusions

· By 1603 the realm was united politically.

· Ruling classes united in accepting James VI of Scotland as next king - succession not a problem.

· Religious divisions were still there but neutralised.

· Radical Catholics had no chance of changing succession and instead hoped for greater toleration in the future.
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